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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERW|E

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure Investment
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the final results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$15,691,000, as compared with approximately
HK$22,133,000 in 2015. The general and administrative costs of the
Group had slightly increased from approximately HK$11,544,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2015 to approximately HK$13,256,000
this year, due to increase of acquisition costs of the new project
during the year. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2016 was approximately HK$5,507,000,
compared with the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$5,249,000 over the corresponding period of 2015.

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in M RZEME
RIEZEHMR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project
is designed as a composite complex comprising two towers of
commercial space and service apartments. A six-storey tower with
a planned gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is planned to
house the commercial space, and an 18-storey tower with a planned
gross floor area of 20,882.52 square metres is planned to house
the service apartments. The total planned gross floor area of the
Jiangning Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which
includes a basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and
land use rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

Up to the date of this report, the construction progress and the pre-
sale of commercial building developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke
at Jiangning District of Nanjing performed well and in line with the
expectation. The topping-up work of the commercial building had
been completed in 2015 and the interior construction work had been
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

completed in 2016. The decoration work of the first and second
floors of the commercial building had been completed during the
year 2016 and it is expected that the decoration work of the third to
sixth floors of the commercial building would be completed in 2017.
Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building have been pre-sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 5,400
square meters of the gross floor area of the commercial building has
been rented out. The construction of the service apartment building
had been completed and the construction completion acceptance
was granted in the first half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment
building had commenced in 2012. As at 31 December 2016, it was
confirmed that 360 service apartment units with approximately 20,100
square meters of the gross floor area were sold with average selling
price of approximately RMB12,300 per square meters.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2016, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2015, being HK$36
million, to the Group.

On 9 September 2016, the Group had entered into an equity transfer
agreement to acquire 51% of the entire equity interest in X EEEY)R
BBR A F] (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited*) (“Tianjing Jun
Hua Logistics”). Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics is principally engaged in
the business of property rentals, development of a logistics base and
operation of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property
with a land use area of 11,331.30 m?, comprising of one building
with one storey of 704.16 m? and another building with four storeys
of 10,807.91 m?, which is being developed into a logistics base at
Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin. The
property is located in the Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main
transportation hubs of the PRC. The Company is of the view that
the acquisition allows the Group to invest in a property and logistics
project located within a promising district. It is believed that the
acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to the Group
amid the current low interest rate environment as well as appreciation
potential of the value of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua
Logistics. The acquisition was completed on 9 December 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in It R BLREEIREZHRBR AT (Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the
“Intermediate Holding Company”) and the cancellation of the option
to acquire the remaining 51% effective interest in the Intermediate
Holding Company was entered into by the Company and the
purchasers for an aggregate consideration of HK$315 million (the
“Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for the Changdongshun
Disposal were mainly due to the performance of the management
of the Changdongshun Group has failed to meet the expectations
of the Directors, in particular, in respect of provision of financial
information to the Company. A circular of the Company setting out the
details of the Changdongshun Disposal was published on 26 June
2013. The Group had received from the Purchasers an aggregate
of the whole amount of the consideration of HK$315,000,000 for
the Changdongshun Disposal, the whole amount of the advance
amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the Group to It RS RIEMREE A
7] (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*) (“Beijing Changdongshun”)
and the loan amounting to RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group
to Beijing Changdongshun plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the
conditions precedent for the Changdongshun Disposal has been
fulfilled. As at the date of this report, the Company is in the process
of transferring the 49% equity interest in the Intermediate Holding
Company to the Purchasers in order to complete the Changdongshun
Disposal.

PROSPECTS

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the real estate business and logistics services business
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

Ye De Chao
Chairman

31 March 2017

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PR e

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC PROJECTS

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC] Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in FRZFME
R EEZAR AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project
is designed as a composite complex comprising two towers of
commercial space and service apartments. A six-storey tower with
a planned gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is planned to
house the commercial space, and an 18-storey tower with a planned
gross floor area of 20,882.52 square metres is planned to house
the service apartments. The total planned gross floor area of the
Jiangning Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which
includes a basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and
land use rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

Up to the date of this report, the construction progress and the pre-
sale of commercial building developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke
at Jiangning District of Nanjing performed well and in line with the
expectation. The topping-up work of the commercial building had
been completed in 2015 and the interior construction work had been
completed in 2016. The decoration work of the first and second
floors of the commercial building had been completed during the
year 2016 and it is expected that the decoration work of the third to
sixth floors of the commercial building would be completed in 2017.
Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building have been pre-sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 5,400
square meters of the gross floor area of the commercial building has
been rented out. The construction of the service apartment building
had been completed and the construction completion acceptance
was granted in the first half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment
building had commenced in 2012. As at 31 December 2016, it was
confirmed that 360 service apartment units with approximately 20,100
square meters of the gross floor area were sold with average selling
price of approximately RMB12,300 per square meters.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2016, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2015, being HK$36
million, to the Group.

KEEBZEYREBMRL ] (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company
Limited*)

On 9 September 2016, the Group had entered into an equity transfer
agreement to acquire 51% of the entire equity interest in Tianjin Jun
Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjing Jun Hua Logistics”). Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics is principally engaged in the business of property
rentals, development of a logistics base and operation of storage
units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land use area
of 11,331.30 m?, comprising of one building with one storey of 704.16
m? and another building with four storeys of 10,807.91 m?, which
is being developed into a logistics base at Tianjin Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Tianjin. The property is located
in the Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main transportation hubs
of the PRC. The Company is of the view that the acquisition allows
the Group to invest in a property and logistics project located within
a promising district. It is believed that the acquisition will provide
a steady rental income stream to the Group amid the current low
interest rate environment as well as appreciation potential of the value
of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics. The acquisition
was completed on 9 December 2016.

Infrastructure

Fr & B R 2\ & [Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited*)

Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited (“Xinan Zhongjing”) is
engaged in the operation of natural gas supply network in ¥1%
EELEE® (Xinan Industrial Consolidation Park*), Xinan County,
Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC. The first phase of pipeline
construction was completed in June 2012 and ventilation test was
successfully completed in October 2012. Xinan Zhongjing is required
to obtain a gas operating license in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations, before it can formally commence operation.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB WD

As of the date of this report, the license application is still under
process but the relevant authorities have not yet given a timetable
for approval of the gas operating license as the application involves
several different governmental departments and the schedule
of these governmental departments are uncertain. As such, the
management of Xinan Zhongjing has tried to approach some other
natural gas companies for strategic cooperation opportunities. In the
Xinan Zhongjing management’s point of view, with the assistance
of the strategic partners, it can facilitate the gas operating license
application process. The management of Xinan Zhongjing is under
negotiation with some potential strategic partners but no binding
agreement is closed as at the date of this report.

I REFNEHRER L A (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in the Intermediate Holding Company and
the cancellation of the option to acquire the remaining 51% effective
interest in the Intermediate Holding Company was entered into by
the Company and the purchasers for an aggregate consideration of
HK$315 million (the “Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for
the Changdongshun Disposal were mainly due to the performance
of the management of the Changdongshun Group has failed to
meet the expectations of the Directors, in particular, in respect of
provision of financial information to the Company. A circular of the
Company setting out the details of the Changdongshun Disposal
was published on 26 June 2013. The Group had received from the
Purchasers an aggregate of the whole amount of the consideration of
HK$315,000,000 for the Changdongshun Disposal, the whole amount
of the advance amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the Group to Beijing
Changdongshun Gas Limited (“Beijing Changdongshun”) and the
loan amounting to RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group to Beijing
Changdongshun plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the conditions
precedent for the Changdongshun Disposal has been fulfilled.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEE WD

After receipts of the full payment of the consideration of the
Changdongshun Disposal, the director of the Company contacted
the Purchasers Mr. Wang Fa Hui (“Mr. Wang”) and Mr. Zhou Jian
Hong (“Mr. Zhou”) to proceed the work for transfer of shares in order
to complete the Changdongshun Disposal. During the time doing
the preparation work for transfer of shares, Mr Wang and Mr. Zhou
had informed the Company that there was a disagreement between
them on the proportion of shares to be transferred to each of them.
They needed some time to come to a compromise before proceeding
the share transfer. The director of the Company regularly contacts
with Mr. Wang and Mr. Zhou to update the latest development of the
negotiations between them and always urges them to confirm the
proportion of shares in order to complete the transaction as early as
possible. Mr. Wang and Mr. Zhou had once promised the director of
the Company that they would confirm the proportion of shares each of
them would hold and then continue to proceed the share transfer by
the latest the end of June 2017. However, Mr. Wang and Mr. Zhou still
have not resolved their disagreement as of the date of this report.

The Audit Committee and the Independent Non-Executive Directors
are of the view that, as the whole amount of the consideration of the
transaction had been received by the Company at the moment, the
risks bore by the Company is relatively small. However, as long as
the Changdongshun Disposal is not completed and the financial
information of the Changdongshun Group is not provided by the
Purchasers, the financial position of the Group cannot be truely and
fairly reflected. Therefore the Audit Committee and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors advised the management to transfer the
shares and complete the Changdongshun Disposal as early as
possible.

OUTLOOK

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the real estate business and logistics services business
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB WD

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of 11 staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices so
as to retain the competent and talented employees. The Company
has a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to the eligible persons including the employees of
the Company for their contributions to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$15,691,000, as compared with approximately
HK$22,133,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2016 was approximately HK$5,507,000 as compared with
the profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$5,249,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015. This was
mainly due to increase of impairment loss recognised in respect of
intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2016.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, loan receivables, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2016, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
2.77 (2015: 3.33). At 31 December 2016, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 32% (2015: 0%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 24% (2015:
20%).
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At 31 December 2016, the Group’s equity attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$788,184,000, a decrease of
approximately 10.76% over last year end which was approximately
HK$883,179,000. The net current assets at 31 December 2016
was approximately HK$608,352,000 (2015: HK$509,570,000) while
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2016 was approximately
HK$54,006,000 (2015: HK$90,669,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2016.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2016, investment properties of approximately
HK$61,122,000 and land use rights of approximately HK$1,881,000
were pledged as securities for borrowings.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015:nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of the
Company are committed to the principles of corporate governance
and to maximise shareholders’ value. These principles and objectives
enhance the transparency, accountability and independence of the
Company and its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the effectiveness
of corporate structure so as to improve its corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
practices which incorporates all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors confirm that,
throughout the financial year, the Company complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not specific.
It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company’s articles of association has been able to
safeguard corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules throughout the financial year. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2016, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. Ye De Chao (Chairman),
Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Ji Xu Dong;
and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company’s business.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take independent
professional advice from external consultants including counsels, at
the Company’s expense. During the year under review, counsels were
engaged to provide the Board with advice on legal matters.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.
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Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and non-
regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so that full
attendance could be attained and timely information was provided so
that informed decisions could be made. The Board conducts meeting
on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by business needs.

The Board held totally 6 board meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2016 —
31 December 2016)

EREFCHEHALIFEHEFTSHEER
Wz BANER  AERTESHELFEZ
FeRMAERKZEAEERNIER TE
HABRE  EFSEHRTERENERE

BHRERRITRAIEE

RAMBEERN  EFTEHBITORESS
% MERES 2 HFERENT

EEEeB HERE& (- R"E-A—
BEZZ2-A"E+ZA=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
H R E HE=R
Number of board meetings EEEERAH 6
Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) EER (EE) 6/6 100%
XU Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer) wME (TTEAEEL) 6/6 100%
JI Xu Dong ESIEES 4/6 67%
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ B IF#HiTEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 4/6 67%
YU Hong Gao B4l 4/6 67%
CHEN Yang BRI 4/6 67%
FEEZREFRAT

—E-REER
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2016, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third
of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company'’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
of the Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development programmes
and provided a record of training they received to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out below.

RE-T—AFT-AS+—BILFE &
EEHEEIELIIAMT -

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BHESERRFREER
Executive Directors HiTEF
YE De Chao E iz A B
XU Xiao Jun wME B
JI Xu Dong FER B
Independent Non-executive Directors B IFHTTEF
HE Jin Geng Al Bk B
YU Hong Gao A= B
CHEN Yang BR¥ B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

In order to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code and to
reinforce the respective independence and accountability, the role
and function of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are segregated.

During the year under review, Mr. Ye De Chao was the Chairman of
the Company while Mr. Xu Xiao Jun was the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Their respective responsibilities are clearly established
and defined by the Board in writing.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no
less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code
of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
To further reinforce independence, these four committees are
structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2016, the Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with
other committee members comprising two other independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng and Ms. Chen
Yang and one executive Director, namely Mr. Ye De Chao. The
Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.
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During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior Management,
including discretionary bonus, which were based on individual
performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs
and performance and profitability of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 115 to 116 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee
had met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2016 — 31 December 2016)

RAMBFEREA  HHEESDBREBMEAR
B RERAEZ HAEEEHEz28EE
B AEBZRARBMES  EREER
SREERE TS - BIERBEA -

YNEESEEENTEERSRERE
WETHMESE (BEFe MR - BREke
EFNEESRE)  UARRIIERTESHF
MRESSRLES FTWNEES2EESH
MR 2 BB E RN - EFFHFIEH
MAFREIISE116H - HFMEZ BT HA
MHREEREITT —Re#  BApKEZH
FERLEREH T3 °

FMEEEeEBR HELE (ZE—RE—
A—HEZZE—XRFE+=ZA=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HEIRE HER
Number of remuneration FHEEESERH
committee meeting 1
Members %8
Independent Non-executive Directors B I 7TEER
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Bals (F/2) 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 5 9z3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HiTEE
YE De Chao EStye 1/1 100%
= = =
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEES

As at 31 December 2016, the members of the Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang with Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive Director, as the Committee Chairman.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the
Nomination Committee. These guidelines take account of appropriate
industry experience, professional ethics and knowledge, personal
skills and time commitments of members.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications and their expected
remuneration packages. The Nomination Committee held one meeting
during the financial year and the attendance of individual member is
recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings (1 January
2016 — 31 December 2016)

REZESAENEFTENEEETIZME -
HhEEezERMNESTEKREREIEE -
S2RREEZBERANZETHIAESTEIE
HHBEE - ZFHEEIRERB ZEETE
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S ) 2 AR o

REZEQETHEMEBESFAREZER
Fr BREBRHEBANEREARERRE
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BRZABMRERZEEWEHBABRR
IT2RETURMESRREZESSH
iz Hig 0 SNERRERZEggR LS
BREEEREAZER BXERREEMR
Bz HHEEHEHEEREAELE
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Attendance
Attendance Rate
HH R B HE=
Number of nomination REZESERRH™
committee meetings 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ B iTEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang P 11 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) XiEH (EE) 1/1 100%
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independency and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation
of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2016, all the committee members were
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr.
He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen
Yang. None of the Audit Committee members were members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.
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Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2016 BERZZESEREZHERER (ZZ—XKF—
- 31 December 2016) B—RAZ=Z—Xx"E+=A=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B HE =
Number of audit committee meetings BXZESEHAE 2
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors ~— BV IFHiTEE
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) Bk (&) 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao Bas 2/2 100%
CHEN Yang (7 9z3 2/2 100%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2016, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong
Gao and Ms. Chen Yang, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, being an executive Director. Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and Senior Management
of the Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to the employees and the Directors of the Company, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.
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Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee Meetings GXERZEGERZHERHE (ZZ—K
(1 January 2016 — 31 December 2016) F—A—HEZ-ZE—X<E+=-HA=+—A8)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
H R B HEE
Number of corporate governance TEERZEEERNRH
committee meetings 1
Members HKE
Independent Non-executive Directors BV I 7TEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang B 1/1 100%
Executive Director HiTEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wME () 1/1 100%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the audit fees and non-
audit fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group were
HK$1,200,000 (2015: HK$1,150,000) and nil (2015: nil) respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors ensure the
publication of consolidated financial statements of the Group in
a timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the three months and two months limit respectively
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing
Rules.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2016 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditors, Centurion ZD CPA Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all the significant risks associated with the business of
the Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to
respond to the risks resulted from significant change of business
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied
to each type of risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk
management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has
engaged an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is no
significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control system
being identified by the external advisory firm for the year ended 31
December 2016.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2016,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2016, the company secretary of the Company, Mr.
Tso Ping Cheong Brian, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and
3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2016,
Mr. Tso has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS  ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
by fax: (852) 2698 8188, or by mail to Suite 607, 6th Floor, Ocean
Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community through its mandatory
interim and final reports. The Senior Management responsible
for investor relations holds meetings with press reporters and
potential strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”). An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may
refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution of financial
reports, the Company has a corporate website to foster effective
communications with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate
Company’s announcements and presentations, shareholders’
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
on a timely basis.

Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

REEBRE

KRR —BERABBREBNBE - BEBEM
SRBIER R ERE R E R A LEE
FRE R s AR - BEREERRERZ
Bl BEREEHRNGAEEERER
BEERBERBREERITER  EHF
TRARBZRHER -

EOEFEA - ARRABERAN ([EEE
RAR]) BiEEAEE) - ARERARINEK
¥R AN AT FE 2R 2 )48 i e Bgp 52 P ut & B o
PRERIRA] 2 Z B EI2 A BIS B R E RN

CALE
B R

EEeRFAEREBRRRET RN - UE
BERRAABIT AITEEE R R ZERZ
B2t - BREHIBMUBHRESN  ARFR
BREHEY - AR B R B RUBE - #
S Mus 2 B SRR MERHARRHQ
i MR - BORE B R B AR R R 75 Ko SERA

ARRIHBERAE R7—ERERE BT
A ARAEREESERXBERREHR—(E
BRRFEE - AARIEER ETHRANSRE
KERBCRIEREBRRAE ERZZAIRER
MMHBER  FIIRHANERAERTEMNE
Bt AECRBESMZ R ARERIEL AT
IRIE © ARAISEICR 2 EERR A SRR
EHEASRZERRLFE NG ERER

o

i

ZI~

FEERREGRAT
—E-REER

27



28

Corporate Governance Report

AL s s/
fi= E/m#&%

The Company held totally 1 general meeting during the financial year ~ RAMBFEA © AR HERIT1RRER
and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows: g BpESZHELEAT

Attendance Record of General Meetings (1 January 2016 - 31 REASZHERHE (ZF—X<F—H—H

December 2016) E-F-R"E+=A=t—AH)
Annual
General
Meeting held on
24 June
JiN
AAZ=+mA
BTHRR
BEXE
Executive Directors HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) HEE (FE) v/
XU Xiao Jun (Chief Executive Officer) RAME (7T AEE) 4
JI Xu Dong FER 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BV IFHTTEF
HE Jin Geng el Bk 4
YU Hong Gao s 4
CHEN Yang BRF 4
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HENERWS

This year is the first Environmental, Social and Governance “ESG”
report prepared with accordance to Appendix 27 Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on Main Board

AERZMARBEEHERZAERARE
RES EMARRA (TR ETRR) HEx27
[RE - @ REAMmEES] (RN - 4E
REAREES ) REENERE  HEME

(“Main Board Listing Rule”). The Board has reviewed and approved of A ([IR3E - @ RER]) & - EFEE
the report and are pleased to present our performance and progress 2= MHLEARRE - WMRAZFEPINEE

on environmental, social and governance for the year ended 31 —ZE—XFE+-A=+—HILFENRE -

December 2016.

HeMEAREER -

The ESG report of the Group has been presented into two subject ~ AEEZIRE - @ REBMED RRER
areas, Environmental and Social and each subject area will have T EMEFZ2&E - SREE2&HEL LZHE
various aspects to disclose the relevant policies and the status of ~ EMH + LABRRIRE « (L& RERREIESIK

compliance with relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the

ESG Reporting Guide.

BABBRIETAEMERERNIER -

The Group understands the importance of ESG report and is AEBAERIRE LS8 LREARENEE

committed to making continuous improvements in corporate social

o WEHERBBIET TR LELS

responsibility into our business in order to better meet the changing ~ EfF * WEFHEEH S HMARERF DT
needs of an advancing society. The first ESG report of the Group it ~ ET&#(LHIFER - REEREHRIER 8K

will present mainly policies, initiatives and performance. The following

ERMERETR2NEMEK - BRI -

will show the ESG issues that found material for the Group and the ~ A TEHIIBAEEMEBEANIEREER - 4g

relation to the ESG Reporting Guide:

ESQ Rggortin& Guide
BRI - B2 RERWmEES

Environmental
Emissions
B

Use of resources
BiR

Environmental and natural resources
RERXRER

>> P> >p P
WW DN =

Social
Employment
e

Health and safety
REEZE

DeveIOfnlent and training
R KB

Labour standards
BIER

Supply chain management
BEE

7~

Y IP IP OO OO W
Q01 hbh WW DN A=

Product responsibility
mEAE
Anti-corruption
5
Community investment

HERE

TO WO W
0o NN oo

RERZBIARERE - t 8 REAWEE

SIRRRA

Relevant ESG issues to the Group

EASEMEBANERE HERELAEE
A, B®R
Carbon dioxide emission and waste management

—RAemIE R R R E
Energy and water consumption
SR Ak

Measures in reducing environmental impact
BB BN

B. #®&

Labour practices

BIER

Work Elace health and safety
TESMERERZ S

Employee development and training
B &R K E

Child labour and forced labor

BT MEHIST

Relationship management in the view of long term co-
eratlon o N

AERASIEETRIRER

Quality control and safety keeping practice
HEERRR LR ER

Anti-corruptin and money laundering
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REFMERE

Community involvement
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ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural

gas business.

A.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group has established environmental policies and has
communicated measurable environmental objectives to
employees. The Group actively encourages staffs to protect the
environment through training, education and communication.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on developments in
local legislation and standards for environmental protection.
During the reporting period, the Group did not experience any
cases of non-compliance relating to environmental laws and
regulations in PRC and Hong Kong.

A.1 Emissions

The Group has conducted regular assessments on the air
and greenhouse gas emission, as well as the generation
and disposal of non-hazardous waste. Relevant
departments are required to collect and analyse relevant
data and take specific measures to reduce emissions.

Carbon dioxide emissions

The major source of carbon dioxide emissions is from the
use of energy. The Group has established various energy-
saving initiatives to the carbon footprint. (refer to A.2)
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A.2

HERERHRE

Waste management

The waste management from the Group’s business
activities mainly consists of office paper during reporting
period. No substantial hazardous waste was produced
by the Group during the Reporting period. The Group has
launched a number of waste management programme,
including:

° Recycling of paper materials, printing cartridges and
batteries;

° To encourage staff to mitigate paper consumption by
double-sided printing and reusing paper printed on
one side.

The Group is governed by, and has complied with, the
Environmental Protection of the People’'s Republic of China
Prevention (% A R HMBIREREL). The Group does
not generate significant air emission or hazardous waste.

Our greenhouse gases emissions are indirectly, principally
resulting from electricity consumed at the Group’s
workplace as well as from business travel by employees.

Use of Resources

Energy and water consumption

With the vision of helping to protect the planet and of
incorporating environmental sustainability into its business
functions and processes, the Group proactively seeks
opportunities for increasing operating efficiency in order to
minimize the use of resources.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed
to electricity and water consumed at its office. We would
perform regular assessments of use of resources.

A.2
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The Group has adopted green office practices to
reduce natural resource consumption and the impact
on the environment. For instance, offices are equipped
teleconference and internet-meeting practices are
encouraged to avoid unnecessary travel.

To achieve higher energy efficiency, the Group
implemented the following key initiatives during the
Reporting Period:

° To switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting room and computers at work stations where
not in use;

o To select the best configuration for air-conditioning
control programme, based on in-door requirement
and out-door condition.

The total amount of usage of the Group is indirect and
insubstantial since all energy resources are consumed for
the offices’ operation.

A.3 Environmental and Natural Resources

Measures in reducing environmental impact

This aspect is not applicable to the Company’s operations,
as the Company'’s environmental impact and use of natural
resources is minimal.

B. SOCIAL

The Group believes that one of the key aspects of its success
is the good relationship it maintains with employees. The Group
provides competitive employee benefits and comprehensive
training programmes in order to encourage employees to
achieve their potential and put their abilities into good use.
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B.1 Employment B.1 EfE
Labour practices BIER

The Group provides a number of staff activities to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging and to help create a
friendly working environment.

The Group’s practices and policies with respect to:

° compensation and dismissal;
° recruitment and promotion;

° working hours;

° rest periods;

° equal opportunities;

° diversity;

° anti-discrimination; and

o welfare and other benefits,

which have complied with Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZEARKXMELSNZE), Labor
Contract Law of People’s Republic of China {1 #E A R 450
Bl &) & [E)%) and other relevant laws and regulations.

The Group also aims to promote the diversity of workforce,
including in terms of age, gender and nationality, as well
as culture of equal opportunity. The management would
frequently review the Group’s remuneration policy in
relation to relevant market standards.

The Group’s employees work under a 40-hour standard
per week and it maintains a holiday policy and travel
policy, as well as annual vacation leave, compensation
leave, maternity leave, personal leave and sick leave.
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B.2

B.3

HERERHRE

Health and Safety

Workplace health and safety

The health and safety of employees have always been
the Group’s priority. The Group has established a set of
policies which focused on keeping a safe and healthy
workplace, including the following requirements:

o Relevant training and knowledge have been
provided to employees in respect to risks associated
with the construction.

° The warning wording has been posted into the
obvious area of the construction site to emphasize
the health and safety practice

With respect to occupational safety management, the
Group has complied with all the corresponding local and
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {1 % A R+
MEI&B)% ) of occupational safety and health. Workplace
is equipped with fire and safety equipment to prevent
outbreak of fire accident and the validity of the fire facilities
have been regularly checked. During the year, the Group
has reported zero work related fatalities and work injuries.

Development and Training

Employee development and training

The Group has always believed that people development
plays the fundamental role in placing a solid ground for
business growth. The Group aims to regularly upgrade
staffs’ professional skills and knowledge, standards and
integrated abilities. The Group also motivates employees’
job enthusiasm and welcome challenges, thereby creating
greater corporate value and future development.

The Group has various training programmes, internal and
external, to fully develop its workforce. New employees
are also provided with on-board training to help faster
adapt to the operations of the Group.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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B.4 Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labor

It is always the Group’s policy to prohibit to employ any
staffs who has under the legal working age for protecting

minors.
Insurance and work security packages:

Hong Kong

58

Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)
BREMLAEE (BBE)

Medical Insurance

BERRE

Performance Bonus

BmAIEAL

Severance Payment/Long Service Payment

ERE RERKS
Maternity/Paternity Leave with Pay

BHER HER

Employment Compensation Insurance

EREEERRE

TR

w
~
b

BTREHET

AEE-BERFBERZELBARE
ETE TIEFIR ABRIBUOR - PARE

REKFA °
R R TIERIEREA -
PRC
il
Medical Insurance
EERR
Unemployment Insurance
KERR
Work-related Injury Insurance
TERR
Childbirth Insurance
EERR
Hosing Accumulation Funds
FERAES

Health and Safety Endowment Insurance

2T 2B E R

The labour standards may be various in different
jurisdictions that the group has operated and the Group
is complied with the relevant labour standards of Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China {FFZE A
REMBELEHARE) for the year ended 31 December
2016. There is a strict recruitment procedure through
Human Resource Department and upon discovery of any
child labour and use of forced labour, the person will be
dismissed immediately and the Board will discuss and
review the problem to prevent it from happening again.
For the year ended 31 December 2016, there is no labour
dispute between the company and its staff.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group has business of trading of construction
materials. During the year ended 31 December 2016, The
Group has carefully selected its suppliers for providing the
natural gas related products to ensure the quality of the
products. The Group have established policy to maintain
long term relationship with the major supplier.

Product Responsibility

The Group complies with various PRC regulations relevant
to the operation of its business in areas, such as health
and safety, advertising, privacy matter relating to its
customers and services.

To ensure the health and safety of patrons and employees
of the property in the construction and operation, the
building of the Group would be tested and repaired to
ensure the property’s quality.

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China and requires related parties to
do likewise in the advertising contract.

The Group’s employees are obligated to retain in
confidence any and all information obtained in connection
with their employment, including, but not limited to,
trade secrets, client information and other proprietary
information.
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B.7 Anti-Corruption

B.8

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group upholds a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. A system with good moral
integrity and anti-corruption mechanism is the cornerstone
for the sustainable and healthy development of the Group.

With compliance with relevant laws and regulations of
Criminal law of the People’s Republic of China {FZE AR
HAMBEALE) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China A RFEFE R T IEE #HF
J%), the Group also has policy to comply with guideline on
anti-money laundering a counter terrorist financing. For the
year ended 31 December 2016, such events have never
happened in the Group.

Community Investment

Community involvement

The Group has contributed its part to build more
environmental friendly energy infrastructure. The Group
would also seek opportunity to contribute the social
community in the coming future.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YE De Chao, Chairman, aged 56, joined the Group as an
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
17 January 2012. Mr. Ye was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the
Company since 1 August 2012 and was then redesignated as the
Acting Chairman of the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye has resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company but will continue to serve as the Chairman of the Company
effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of FRX
FHAREEABR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) which is an associated company of the Company, and the
chairman of EREFIREHEMZEFRAF (Nanjing Wanlilai Real
Estate Development Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of
experiences in business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an
electric engineer of F%E ARKEMBA BB HIGHEBERBES B
TR (Electric Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-
administration, Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways
of The People’s Republic of China*). He obtained an undergraduate
diploma from Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, which is located in
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr. Ye is
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, Chief Executive Officer, aged 38, has been
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 2 August
2012. Mr. Xu has taken up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Xu is the executive
deputy general manager and legal representative of R Z=FEF}
BEAMR AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*).
Mr. Xu served as the deputy general manager and the director of
the office of AREBFIREMEMZEAFR AR (Nanjing Wanlilai Real
Estate Development Company Limited*) during the periods from
2002 to 2009 and from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a
colleague of Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director and Chairman
of the Company at ERZFMAREZEBR A A (Nanjing Taihe Yingke
Property Company Limited*) and formerly at 57 & & it Z R
AR AR (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development Company
Limited*), Mr. Xu is not connected with any other directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Mr. Xu is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 52, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied the
course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has also
attended the International Financial Investment Programme of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and general
manager of R g ELRIRmEEBR AR (Nanjing Vegetable and
Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He previously served
as vice general manager of RME B RmEEE AT (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the
independent director authentication from the Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2016 are
set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. He
holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing
University. Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of F5R/
BEEIEAEIE AR AT (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as a director
and president of R B Z[%{HH PR 2 A (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) and as secretary of ¥ T4& =PI @EZ (Youth League
of Liuao District of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also
served different posts in ERINEREHERMGBR AR (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 54, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
and holds a Doctorate Degree. Mr. Yu previously served as
deputy general manager of the Department of Entrusted Assets
Management, general manager of Asset Management Department
and general manager of Securities Investment Department of #EZz
BEIMD AR AT (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of
the Investment Department of JT# & B EE S F TR R E QR
(Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy head of F{Z$R1TEI RO 1TH
FasZ1T (Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*),
deputy general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {2255/
AR A A (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).
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Ms. CHEN Yang, aged 43, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 September 2014. Ms.
Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a master
degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of
Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (5¢
AFAAREE R RIMER M5 % %50). She previously served as
sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (B EHEFAR 15 F R A &) 5 7 AL E B B AE 5 32 56),
marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai
Securities Co., Ltd.* (HEIEAERRD AR AR A ER KA 2L % 56)
and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road
Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (FIZRE LZiF AN AR
REIFERA T EEIEFE %)

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2016.

*

The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas businesses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 99% and 99% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 99% and 99% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 174 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 64 to 65 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2016 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 66 to 67 of
this annual report.
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The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2016.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2016
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has complied throughout the year with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), except for the deviation of code provisions A.4.1.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ye De Chao, Chairman

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Ji Xu Dong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr. Yu Hong Gao

Ms. Chen Yang
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang
shall retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the period up
to his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company'’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF
HK$0.05 EACH [“SHARES”) OF THE COMPANY

KL E] & EH1E 0.05 8 T2
ZER ([R17]) 28

Number of Shares held

BREZROEE
% to the issued
Personal Corporate share capital of
Name of Director Interests Interests Total the Company
EELDH
EBRITRAE
EEnA EARER NEERE B Bt (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao E bt — 1,189,290,512  1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note)
(BfaE)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong TR AE 6,000 6,000 0.00014

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested Entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or Invested Entities, to
recognise the contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of
the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
Eligible Person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
No share options were outstanding nor granted during the year ended
31 December 2016.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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ARRR—FEZN\FLA+—BHEA—ERB
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1) > N
LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBERZIFE
% to the issued
Number of  share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares the Company
EARRAF
2RITRA
REREH BEEH RS EE B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FRESIKEFGREETAR (FIEE1) corporation
R AR
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FEBIERIRTTIRMBRAR (HiE2) corporation
R EE R
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
Legendary Base International Limited (FfizE3) BE=AA
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 383,956,000 8.99
Expert Ever Limited (Fff5£4) BE=BA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled 383,956,000 8.99

sREEE (FifaE4)

Notes:

corporation
R rE R

(1)  China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.26% by

Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the

Shares under a share pledge.

(3) Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base

International Limited.

(4)  Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, no person (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 7 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company), Modern Admission Group
Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment (PRC) Company
Limited (“Forward Investment”) had entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the
subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward Investment by Keen
Gate (the “Subscription”) at a consideration of HK$300 million (the
“Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on 10 December
2012. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
Modern Admission Group Limited and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively,
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MEEAL -

BEAEK

FA - BEET SF A E B AR A B EE 482
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# o
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the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate that
the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable from the
Group’s equity interests in Forward Investment, shall not be less than
12% of the Consideration per annum. In the event the return to Keen
Gate falls below such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate
Keen Gate on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in
cash on or before 15 May of each calendar year.

The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$36 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2016. In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) of the Company, the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, Forward Investment recorded
a net profit of approximately HK$16,672,000 and the Group’s share
of results on Forward Investment was approximately HK$6,669,000.
The Return Undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2016 would
be approximately HK$29,331,000. The Guarantors shall compensate
Keen Gate the amount of approximately HK$29,331,000 on or before
15 May 2017.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$29,331,000 to Keen Gate.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall
fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2017. The Directors of
the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will
disclose to the public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their
obligations or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or
before 15 May 2017 by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment recorded a net profit of approximately HK$16,672,000 and
the Group’s share of results on Forward Investment was approximately
HK$6,669,000 thus the Return Undertaking for the year ended 31
December 2016 would be approximately HK$29,331,000. The INEDs
of the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will
provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on whether the Guarantors
had fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by compensating
Keen Gate the amount of approximately HK$29,331,000 on or before
15 May 2017 or not. The INED Opinion will be disclosed in the
Company’s next published annual report.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) presently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s
external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Centurion ZD CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Centurion ZD CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ye De Chao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2017
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B A2 AR

A

C7ZD HEEatmssmams
N Centurion ZD CPA Limited

':Ij IEJ;%. Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 173,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016

HHEERREARAT

B AR SR 2 B R B R
(RESEEZMK L BRLA])

RESR

wEE ([E%]) EERHENEC4E173E
MABEEEZKRERRAR ([EAF]) RE
MBAR (Rl IERE]) NG B R
= WERAMBHRREEN_-F—XF
TZA=1T - HANGEEBBIRARAREE
Z B FEREGRS Ra A2 KSR
RAEREPRNEARERNER - ARE
B BWMERMT - BRI ESTBEREUE -

BERR  BRAREREER ZEE A
fit 2 BIEM A RER BN - IR ME|ME TS
REFEGTMAE ([BESHMHAE])
BT BH B REER ([BEMHREE
A1) EEmMATieRkge EXRER_-T—7
F+ZA=T-HZHEEUBIRAL B
SEEBEZALFEZEAMBRIRNGE

mg >

i

ReRng  YERBEBQREIZKER



Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR S

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

PRIOR YEAR'S AUDIT SCOPE LIMITATION
AFFECTING OPENING BALANCE AND
COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 contained a qualified
opinion on the limitation on the audit scope in relation to non-current
assets held for sale and details of which had been set out in the
auditor’s report dated 31 March 2016.

As the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 formed the basis for the corresponding
figures presented in the current year’s consolidated financial
statements, any adjustments found to be necessary in respect of the
carrying amount of the non-current assets held for sale would have a
significant effect on the opening balances and consequential effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2016 and the results and the related disclosures for the year ended
31 December 2016.

SCOPE LIMITATION — NON-CURRENT ASSETS
HELD FOR SALE

The Group had interests in an associate in respect of 49% equity
interests in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Associate”) which has been
classified as non-current assets held for sales since the Company
announced to disposal of the Associate on 20 March 2013
(“Disposal”). As at the date of this report, the Disposal has not been
completed.

Due to the fact that the directors of the Company were unable to
obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate since 1 July
2012, the directors of the Company have not stated the assets of
the Associate at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
cost to sell. Under these circumstances, the assets of the Associate
classified as held for sales included in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
were measured at the carrying amount at cost since 1 July 2012.
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As a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence in respect of the measurement and valuation of the non-
current assets held for sales as at 31 December 2013, 2014, 2015
and 2016 and whether they were free from material misstatements.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof would have
a significant and consequential effect on the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, the results and cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2016 and related disclosure
thereof in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Key audit matter

HREZEE
Accounting for business combination

We identified the business combination as a key audit
matter because, as disclosed in note 29, the consideration
is RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,678,000) and it involves significant amount of
judgment.

EEHREBEHETABEREZEE  RAR (AW
MisE 29 P ER) 1R{B3E A K% 60,000,000 7T (AHER
#)66,678,000/87T) © BF KRS8 HE -

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations requires the Group to
recognise the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities at fair value at the date of acquisition, with the
excess of the acquisition cost over the identified fair
values recognised as goodwill. This requires a significant
amount of management estimation, particularly in relation
to the valuation of the assets and liabilities acquired. The
goodwill recognised amounted to HK$49,308,000.
ERVBRELEREIF [ XKE0H] B E5H
REBRBz ATEERABMNEE BERHARE

& MK ASHAENATFTENBOERRE
o WERKEREELREMT  LHEBMNATUES
BENMBEZMGE - E#RAEER49,308,000/8 7T ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

ERasERE

We have reviewed the key assumptions made by
management in accounting for the business combination
including:

EECEHEBENRARERS HEIENBRER

& B

° A review of the sale and purchase agreement to
determine whether any appropriate intangible assets
have been identified and that no unusual terms exist
that have not been accounted for;

e EHEEWZE UBTREHMNINEBENEL
BENMRENFERA MERE IR

° The identification and fair valuation of the assets and
liabilities the Group acquired including any fair value
adjustments; and

e EBEEMBEBEELREBNHKLATIHE
BREENAHERE : &

° Valuation assumption such as discount and tax rate
by reviewing assumptions used in such calculations
and recalculating using external evidence.
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Impairment assessment on goodwill

We identified impairment assessment on goodwill as a
key audit matter because of its potential significance to
the consolidated financial statements. The estimation
of recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill was allocated involves a significant degree
of judgement and estimation on future cash flow forecasts
of the businesses to be made by management.
ESFREBREMMIEE ABREZEE  REAKH
ARHREMBRRELAETATE - KO kBE
ZBReEEBLMZ AIRE SR R EREHEBRK

R BTN 2 EAHER K 5T -

Refer to note 15 and the Group’s critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of
goodwill set out in note 35(B)(v) to the consolidated
financial statements.

B2 A I IR M T 15 R FE 35(B)(v) Fr#
SEEBMERE R e T KA o

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had goodwill of
HK$49,308,000 relating to the acquisition of KEEZEYR
BBRAF] (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited*).
Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment.
R-ZT—RF+ZA=1+—8  EXERKEXZ
BREYRBR AR ELRE49,308,000/87T - &

T FERERS °

Management concluded that there was no impairment
in respect of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
was allocated. This conclusion was based on value-in-
use calculations that require the estimation of recoverable
amounts, as detailed in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ERERS KOEBMBCREELSEUITERE -
thiswm DERERMEF AR ez EREEAEE
S FIBFENRE M IE KM LS -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE
B R E AT

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment included:

BEEAWEEEREMENEF B

° Assessing the valuation methodology;

o FHEMRKEE

° Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

e REEFNEBRITRABNEARBRRNE
B R

° Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considering the
reasonableness of these budgets.

o YW ABUREFIRE - KR ENTEE
REZRZEEENSERN -
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Key audit matter

RRERESE
Interests in associates

The Group’s interests in associates, Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”), is
accounted for under the equity method. The Group’s share
of the profit after tax and other comprehensive income
from Forward Investment for the year ended 31 December
2016 was HK$6,669,000 and the Group’s share of Forward
Investment’s net assets was HK$342,799,000 as at 31
December 2016. Refer to note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
EEERBERRFMNKRE (FE) BRAR ([F
TRE ) 2R REREAER . BE_T—RF
TZRA=+—RILFE X EXERGEKRERNEKE
2 FR A8 M) S Bt 2 T UK 5% /% 6,669,000 8 7T+
EEERELEFENRECEEFER_Z—RF+=
A=+—H/&342,799,000 &t - A2 B & MEH
RMIEEA7 -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

N NPk

Forward Investment is a significant associate of the Group.
We have carried out audit on its financial statements.
We have determined that the audit work performed and
evidence obtained were sufficient for our audit purpose.
We have interviewed with the Group’s management and
have discussed with them and evaluated any probable
impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
of the key audit matters relating to Forward Investment.

RANKE) EEE-—HEZMENR - EFLEX
HEGHE - WEEMETHNEZ TERARGNE
ERESNEZENME /LD - BFCHHE BE

BEEE  YREEIHSHEBREENRE 2@
BERERY BSEERSVBTHRZEAAERE -

FEERREGRAT
—E-REER
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Impairment assessment on other receivables,
deposits and prepayment

As at 31 December 2016, other receivables, deposits
and prepayment of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$624,780,000.

RZZE—RFE+ZRA=+—8 = EXEBHEMERK
FIE - 1RE MIBNFRIAX) 624,780,000 B TT °

In exercising impairment assessment of the other
receivables, deposits and prepayment, the management
applied own judgment and used subjective assumptions.
It includes assessing customers with default risk,
identifying indication of impairment based on
creditworthiness of customers.

R H A EUTIR - B E RIEN RIBETRER G
- BREDLEREINHE RIRATEHRR - H8
FHEEPHENRR EREPHNEEEXZ®AZ
BFERETR

The Group’s impairment policy is disclosed in note 2(T) to
the consolidated financial statements.

BERERREBER R & M H AR M 5 2(T) 5T -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

HpfEWROR - RERFANRBZBEE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on recoverability of other receivables,
deposits and prepayment included:
EEREEREE ML EMERFIR -
Z A e R AR B4R

wme MFANFKIA

° Tested subsequent settlement with reference to
the loan repayment schedule set out in the loan
agreement. Where changes to repayment dates
negatively impacted the carrying value of assets,
we challenged management as to whether this
indicated impairment had occurred.

s REBERWMEMEZERRERFLERARESR
BR - ERBPEEHEERMEELTH
T8 BEHERNETEBESRESHIR

o We checked historical repayment record to ascertain
the recoverability.

o  EERUESLEFGCE: - AMEE A W@

o We sent audit confirmation letters to majority of
debtors to ascertain the existence and accuracy of
the outstanding receivables.

e EBEMARMBHEBAELEZERL
NEIR FEW IR 2 172 M ERE M o

VAHEE

° We performed search and interview with selected
debtors and found that no litigation/credit issue.
There is no indication of impairment event during the
year.

e EZHEWFHMEB/BKA - WEBEIREMAFH
0 EERE - FNEREAREEHTR -
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the key source of estimation
uncertainty and the significant assumptions and
judgements involved in the valuation.
EEHREMELERT SAREZSZE  RARMG
B8 RAGETTEARAE = 2 F Z2HRRA R EARRE KA
B o

As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties amounted
to HK$61,122,000 as at 31 December 2016. There is no
gain or loss on net changes in fair value of investment
properties recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year

then ended.
NG A T BRERMTI12AEE R — R F

+—A=+—8 > SB£EREWEAEG61,122000
B BEZBUEFEZHGEBEa EMEEmMKER
WERRISEWE N T ES ) EE 2 Rk EiE o

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also worked
closely with the independent qualified valuers to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques.
EEEREMEZ ATEDRAGEREEE - EF
BREBRTAIBREARE - MARELHE - &
SETT BT S EREEMBYEIEARY RETES
BRHEE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

REYRME

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
appropriateness of the carrying values of the investment
properties included:

BEEREMAREYMERAECAEENEFBE

° Reviewing the valuation report from independent
qualified valuers and holding discussion with
management and independent qualified valuers to
understand the valuation basis, methodology used
and underlying assumptions applied;

e EHXREBISEBRMEEMNMEERS  HE
BEREIEEBRGERMER R TS
B REER - A MABRRR

° Evaluating management’s process in respect of
reviewing the valuation performed by independent
qualified valuers;

e FHMAEREMREMBLAERMGERTETH
BEEIEFF ;

° Evaluating of the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent qualified valuers;

e IEBUSERGLEMMNERE EHIREE
.

° Selecting samples from the Group’s investment
property portfolio and obtaining the underlying data
including comparables of market transactions being
used by the independent qualified valuers and
assessing whether they are appropriate; and

e 1t EEENREMEASEIELN TEE
BEYAERGEMAANTISR S SHEEH
% WRMHEESEE &

° Performing market research and analysis to assess
whether the changes in fair value of investment
properties resulted from the valuation was
reasonable and consistent with market trends to our

knowledge.

o ETMBABENN  UHEBRGEELENR
BMERATERDREESABEREEZHENT
SR -

FEEZREBRDF

—E-REER
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015 were audited by another auditor who expressed
a qualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 31
March 2016 as a result of the limitation of scope based on reasons
summarised in the basis for qualified opinion paragraphs thereon.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the content of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

KRBT EMBEmERE - EFAARM
BERERBRENRN  IRERFELE
BRANER (WER) - RIFEFARH B

SEBE  HRIEEE HFZINLER
O EBRAITHIE - BRIEEARBUEE
REREMRNEEDE

REEEARREEE ESENMBWMER
{m}

FASABRR

EEMNER  RYERSFAMBHRREL N
T AR B Sk BR RR T G B BB A #8 SR BR
RISERMRE - WREZE ZHE RHER
AT (EAEE) hABREFERNKZ
BEMRE - BRULASN - BEMREETEE
A% - BEETHARE Z AR REREAM
AT B FREAESE - SRRERSKTH
ReE - BTRERBIRREBREERETH
BRAER -EREREULAFAER AR -
B8 AR BRI AT LA B BREF BB AR B HE - B IR TR
HIRE R E R AT e B L SR A M
MR A E PIVEL VIR E - BIFRN
BARRBRAL AT R ARVEE XN ©
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° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the matters described in the basis for qualified
opinion’s paragraph:

° we were unable to determine whether proper books of account
had been kept; and

° we have not obtained all the information or explanations that,
to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary and
material for the purpose of the audit.

Centurion ZD CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Hong Kong, 31 March 2017

Chan Kam Fuk
Practising Certificate Number: P04257

Room 2105-06, 21/F., Office Tower
Langham Place, 8 Argyle Street
Mongkok, Kowloon

Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEmkEMEERE

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt Z —FE—NF+=-A=+—HILF/E

2016 2015
et AT S
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FExT FAET

Revenue Was 4 15,691 22,133
Costs of sales SHEMK A (15,434) (21,998)
Gross profit EF 257 135
Other income HbUg A 5 30,827 37,223
Share of results of associates FEIGEE N E) 2 A 17 6,669 (777)
Other operating expenses HhZiERX (40,734) (30,798)
General and administrative expenses —RRITEER (13,256) (11,544)
Loss from operations REEE (16,237) (5,761)
Finance costs BF TSP AN 6(a) (2,128) —
Loss before taxation ERI) = 6 (18,365) (5,761)
Income tax FriS#i 9 9,394 8,394
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (BR) wR (8,971) 2,633
Attributable to: FEfh -

— Owners of the Company — RRARIHEAA (5,507) 5,249

— Non-controlling interests — AR AR R (3,464) (2,616)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (BER) uR (8,971) 2,633
(Loss)/Earnings per share BR (&H8) BF

(HK cents per share) (ZRAEMWN) 11

Basic EEWIN (0.13) cents 1l 0.12 centsll

Diluted e (0.13) cents il 0.12 centsflll

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ek EMAZERGER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2016 2015
—EB-RF —hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FExT FAET
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (BB) uF (8,971) 2,633
Other comprehensive loss: Hith2EEE :
ltems that may be reclassified to AR ETDEA
profit or loss Bm B
Net translation differences on WMEGINETS 2
foreign operations VEH =58 558 (81,986) (31,153)
Share of other comprehensive FE(REE A A
income of associates Hh 2 ERE
— Exchange reserve — [EH 17 (7,734) (2,707)
Total comprehensive loss for the year, FRAH 2 EEIE -
net of tax Bi® (89,720) (33,860)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZ2HEEIEHEEE (98,691) (31,227)
Attributable to: FE1L
— Owners of the Company — RATEB A (94,995) (28,846)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIERAR R (3,696) (2,381)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZ2EEEEAE (98,691) (31,227)
The notes on pages 72 to 173 form an integral part of these  HF72F 173 B M ALEZLFE M FEmE L
consolidated financial statements. — &85 o
FEERREGRAT

—E-NEEH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e ISR AR

At 31 December 2016 R —F—NFE+=-H=+—H

2016 2015
—E—RE —H%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FExT FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE
Investment properties HEME 12 61,122 —
Property, plant and equipment Y% BRE LA 13 144 5,328
Land use rights T AR 14 1,881 —
Goodwill EES 15 49,308 —
Intangible asset E|ILEE 16 — 38,617
Interests in associates EAE‘Q‘Z%A Al 17 342,799 343,864
455,254 387,809
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 19 53 56
Trade and other receivables, deposits ~ JEWE SIRFK KL
and prepayment E At fERIE 20 624,780 322,203
e RIEMFIE
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTAE 21 54,006 90,669
678,839 412,928
Assets classified as held for sale DERSEHERE 22 273,517 315,739
952,356 728,667
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Trade and other payables ENESERER R 23 (338,379) (219,097)
,Etﬁﬁréﬁ%ﬁé
Interest-bearing borrowings — current  5HEEE — RH 24 (5,378) —
Tax payables FERBIIE (247) —
(344,004) (219,097)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 608,352 509,570
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 1,063,606 897,389

66 CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB LR

At 31 December 2016 R—E—NE+_-H=41+—H

2016 2015
—EB—RF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBARE
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 24 (250,000) —
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIEAE 25 (7,884) (9,655)
(257,884) (9,655)
NET ASSETS EEFE 805,722 887,724
CAPITAL AND RESERVES PR AR
Share capital &N 27(a) 213,496 213,496
Reserves @ 574,688 669,683
Total equity attributable to owners of &2 F#EH AEN
the Company ERBEH 788,184 883,179
Non-controlling interests FFER IR RER 17,538 4,545
TOTAL EQUITY xS %s 805,722 887,724

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2017.

Ye De Chao
¥EE

Director

EF

The notes on pages 72 to 173 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

E72

—H#5

Xu Xiao Jun

E N 3
Director

EF

RIB—tF=A=+—"BREESIEL
BRIETE -

L MR FHRAMBEHRER

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AEEDEER

68

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Bt Z —FE—NF+=-A=+—HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE FER
i RipEE (HsE1) (Hi2) ERGE 2iTER a# hREs BRiAE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fikn T Fikn T Tén T Tén T Thn
At 1 January 2015 WZ5-1E-A-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 9,221 (66,882) 912,025 6,926 918,951
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
translation of financial Rk
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - — 13 — (13 % (31,153
Share of other comprehensive EBEAT
income of associates A2 EkE - — - — (2.707) - (2.707) — (2.707)
Profit for the year Emat - - - - - 5,249 5,249 (25616) 2633
Total comprehensive loss EMREEELS
for the year - - - —(340%) 529 (28846) R3®1)  (3120)
At 31 December 2015 REZ-RE+-A=1-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (24,874) (61,633) 883,179 4545 887,724

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARERBHE
For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE FER
Bx RGEE (1) (Hzk2) Eifie  ZiEE a# RREs  EREE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fhn i FEn i TEn i T5n Thn 5n
At 1 January 2016 W% "E-A-R 213,496 756,049 72 69 (24,874) (61,633) 883,179 4,545 887724
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
translation of financial CIf5E. v
statements of overseas EiES
subsidiaries - - - - (81,754) - (81,754) (232) (81,986)
Share of other comprenensive EBEAT
income of associates Ath2EkE - - - - (7734) - (7734) - (7734)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (5,507) (5,507) (3,464) (8,97)
Total comprehensive loss EMREEELS
forth year - - - — (948  (B50) (4995  (36%)  (98691)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—FHELT - - - - - - - 16,689 16,689
At 31 December 2016 REE-—AETZA=1-H 213,496 756,049 7 69 (114,362) (67:140) 788,184 17538 805,722
Notes: PiEE
1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. FAEBEXNHEENBEARZMERZEB
the registered capital of a subsidiary. A °
2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. EBAERRFEEEUSRENERDRSZ
repurchased out of distributable profit. HE -
The notes on pages 72 to 173 form an integral part of these  F72E 173 B2 ANGE MG RETR 2 —
consolidated financial statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv-.ﬁ IE%/JILE%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2016 {2 —E— NF1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

2016 2015
—EB-RF —hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FHETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERR
Loss before taxation BRI ATE R (18,365) (5,761)
Adjustments for: BTPIEHAZ -
Amortisation and depreciation of IEMBVEE
non-current assets BN ATE 2,182 3,690
Interest income FLEMA 5 (1,494) (16)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FtE  BE N RE
of property, plant and equipment R REEE 13 3,603 —
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FtER A EMER
of intangible assets ZR(EEE 16 37,131 30,798
Finance costs BTSN 6(a) 2,128 —
Share of results of associates FE(RE R N E] 2 AR 17 (6,669) 777
Operating profit before changes Fed=—g=tc-F )
in working capital 2R HER 18,516 29,488
Increase in other receivables, deposits ~ HAEIKFIE - 12E& N
and prepayment SENEZOE I (322,501) (155,404)
Decrease in inventories FERD — 4
Decrease in asset held for sale FIEHEEER D 22,383 —
Increase in trade and other payables BB SRR R 103,409 209,437
H b FE T FRIBIG AN
Cash (used in)/generated from geg (FH) EEZBES
operations (178,193) 83,525
Tax paid ERHIE = —
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEER (ER) EBE
operating activities ZEEFE (178,193) 83,525

70 CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘lj_\ EE@/)ILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

2016 2015
—EB-RF —hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FExT FAET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEW
Interest received BUFLE 5 1,494 16
Payment for the purchase of property, BAYE  BE

plant and equipment PG ANES 13 (37) —
Net cash outflow upon acquisition of I BE — TR B A E)i&

a subsidiary REmt 58 29 (66,257) —
Net cash (used in)/generated from rRE%% (FTR) EE

investing activities ZHEFE (64,800) 16
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ME XK
Proceeds from new bank loans HIRTTERFSFIE 250,000 —
Interest paid ERFE 6(a) (2,128) —
Net cash generated from financing REEBREE RS TFHE

activities 247872 —
Net increase in cash and ReRESEEY

cash equivalents by ipezdoc] 4,879 83,541
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes #MEEREF)~ 5 (41,542) (13,066)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RFEMZ2IRE N

of year ReEEY 21 90,669 20,194
Cash and cash equivalents attheend REACZHERREZEEY

of year 54,006 90,669
Analysis of the balances of cashand R&RESZEEY

cash equivalents ZEBRD T
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end ~ RERZIEEL N

of year BLEZEY 21 54,006 90,669
The notes on pages 72 to 173 form an integral part of these  F72FE173BZMFALEHEAVERERZ
consolidated financial statements. —&B7 o
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72

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 {2 —E— NF1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 16 June
1992 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 2 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is Suite 607, 6/F., Ocean Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are described in note 18.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A] STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“C0O"). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(A]

(B)

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It has
also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Company. The information on
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 3 to these
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that certain financial instruments and
investment properties are measured at fair value and
assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to disposal as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(B)

(C]

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Certain comparative figures of prior years have been re-
presented to conform with the current year’s presentation.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(C]

(D)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is re-measured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in the statements of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the statements of
profit or loss.

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(D) SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING (D) 18 2 7] R FEHE IR R

INTERESTS (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Group, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D) SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

(E)

INTERESTS (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= B

e IR R AR Y A

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E]

(F]

GOODWILL (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
Under the equity method, investments in associates
are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[F] INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) [F] &L\ aiEzw (&)

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group'’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(F]

(G]

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that
associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of business tax
and after eliminating sales with the Group companies.
Revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(G) REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) (G) Wzt ()

Sales of properties

Sales of properties are recognised upon the completion of
sales contracts with customers; completion of construction
of relevant properties; and registration of sales contracts
with local authority is completed, whichever is the later.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as advanced
proceeds received from customers and grouped under
current liabilities.

Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials is recognised
when then risks and rewards of construction materials’
ownership are transferred to customers, which is at the
time of delivery and the title is passed to customers.

Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(H) LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessee other than operating lease
of land use rights

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[H] LEASING (continued) (H] #HE &)

The Group as lessee under operating lease of
land use rights

Land use rights under operating lease, which mainly
comprised land use rights to be developed for investment
properties and self-use buildings, are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the operating lease periods, less
accumulated impairment provision.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as ‘prepaid lease
payments’ in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(I] FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

— exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

— exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

— exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1

(J]

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are expensed in consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised as being
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(K] EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(L)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

[L} INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[L) INCOME TAX (Continued) (L) Fr{Z# #)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(M] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease

term and their useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(M] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(N)

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation including properties under
construction for such purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property is classified as investment
property. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined,
the investment property under construction will be
measured at cost until such time as fair value can be
determined or construction is completed.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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AN
N

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0] STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to complete, or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, depreciation of machinery and equipment,
amortisation of land use rights and professional fees
incurred during the development period. On completion,
the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale remaining unsold
at the year end are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the
unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(P

(@)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and
their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of
such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Q)

(R]

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL (Continued)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that the assets may
be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
weighted average basis. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(S)

(1]

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. Where
it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position when an entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)
(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) @ TAE &)
- =h =h
Loans and receivables EXRKEWRIE
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets ER R EWFIR B EE R 5
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 3# {8 17 S 75 2] 7 o P HEESE 1SR 2
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including OTE S RAE - BB
cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables B (BRRE RIRITEHRIAKRE
but not the prepayment) are measured at amortised cost Yo 5 B ok e E b FEUCRRIR B A
using the effective interest method, less any impairment BREBMNR) RERFNZEEE
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets B AR EMRE (RTX
below). FRSRMEERENSTER)
Bk -
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective MEWARBERNXMER -
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the FERHM B R E T A Z 2 B KR
recognition of interest would be immaterial. TEERN o
Financial assets at FVTPL UAFEFABRSR EME
B
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the ECREERFEEEIIETER
financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated PRAFESFABGEZEMEA
as at FVTPL. E - EsBERUATENAR
HRZERMEE °
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: fWErEEB TSR DA
REEES -
— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of — EFERRTARILEMRE
selling it in the near future; or A
— on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of — RUBHERE - BRARE
identified financial instruments that the Group atfERzEHAlemITA
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of me—Hy  BIEMERE
short-term profit-taking; or PRAZHIERIRE © 5
— it is a derivative that is not designated and effective — BRREEEIOETLA
as a hedging instrument. WA BRAERE R TH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T] £@TA %)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

— such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

— the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

— it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the “other revenue and
net income” line item in the consolidated profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T] £@TA %)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial assets because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 365 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEEFTBE @)

(Continued)

(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T 2T A &)

TREERE @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount SRAB R AARR Z BB EM
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 5 OREBBRSBEREEREE
BIZSMEE RERM X G
HAARKRBEREETHIREZR
EME 2B ZRaHER -

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

WEERMEEMS  ©RMEE
ZRHEERZREBRRD
HEEUE 5 BRRBR SN - HEREE
TyiEBEMEERE MR o i
FEWE 5 BRI R A ORI
IR R Bl B S - A 1Rkl 2

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries

of amounts previously written off are credited against the 38 1 9 35 70 08 Al e 5C A B R
B-BERECERREZSNAE

allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. HFER ©

SR E KA EC S REEM
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 5 WREREE - REBES
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to BRD - Mz A F AR
RRERBEEZEHAR Al
Al ﬁEw B 1B 1B 1855 18 18 a5 1

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a

an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed

100

through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EEEFTBE @)

(Continued)

[T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [T) T A &)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
an entity are as other financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of a company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
a company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables but not the advanced proceeds received from
customers) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T] AT A &)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial assets, the
Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial assets, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Ul CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(v

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated profit
or loss and other comprehensive income which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax profit or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RS ER R AT

For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(W) ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE W) 7 EBIFIEHEEESE

An asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is
available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group
is a group of assets to be disposed of together as a group
in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of
the group and the company are concerned are deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(W) ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(X

(Continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(X] RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a Group of which the other entity
is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity): or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it

is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence by, that

person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Y] OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

3.1 INITIAL APPLICATION OF HKFRSS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment entities: Applying
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 the consolidation exception
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for acquisitions of interests

Amendments to HKAS 1

in joint operations
Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of acceptable methods of
and HKAS 38 depreciation and amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer plants
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs

2012 - 2014 cycle
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.1 INITIAL APPLICATION OF HKFRSs

(Continued)

The application of these new and revised standards in the
current year has had no material effect on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements and/
or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.

The initial application of these financial reporting
standards does not necessitate material changes in the

Group’s accounting policies.

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE

The following HKFRSs in issue at 31 December 2016
have not been applied in the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year then ended
since they were not yet effective for the annual period

beginning on 1 January 2016.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers'

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions'

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets between
and HKAS 28 an investor and its associate or joint
venture®

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments'
HKFRS 16 Leases’
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative*

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing

application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipates that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may not have
material impact on the amounts reported in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations

when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts
on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and
finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and
is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low

value assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, operating lease payments are currently
presented as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS
16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$964,000 as disclosed in note 33.

The directors of the Company do not expect the adoption
of HKFRS 16 as compared with the current accounting
policy would result in significant impact on the Group’s
result.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will not have material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions and/or
the disclosures to the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

4. REVENUE

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the years is analysed as follows:

. BRI RSB
BEg sl (|
Fhs s

3.2 ERRMHEERENZE
BRI EER (&)

ERVBHREEAE 165 H
-4C-)

B EXPrtE SN - RRREERTE
HIsR M B A ¥ AT R IERT VBB
M HEER - ST e HAEHE
P BRBE RN, S A EE
RAMBRRNBEBEBRERY
& .

I

Wz

RZEFEN  EERZEEEANR
SRS

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2016 2015

—E—RE —ET—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHETT

Rental income from investment properties & 2 & U A 81 —
Sales of construction materials HEZEME 15,610 22,133
15,691 22,133
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 — %

5. OTHER INCOME

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

5. HlgA

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—HLLFE

2016 2015

—RF —T—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FBT FiET

Interest income on bank deposit RITHERZFEWA 40 16

Interest income on loan receivables FEWE R Z FI B U A 1,454 —
Compensation income arising from EAERERES

profit guarantee realisation 2 BEEWA 29,331 36,000

Other sundry income H A IEWA 2 1,207

30,827 37,223

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting):

[A) FINANCE COSTS

6. BRBLAIEIR

BREABED NG (GEA) TH%
I8 :

(A) B B2

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—HLLFE

2016 2015
—RF —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FiET
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings T BEEZ 58
— wholly repayable within five years — BARAFA 2,128 —
BEER
— not wholly repayable within BERRF
five years NEEEE — —
Total borrowing costs EER AR 2,128 —

The analysis shows the finance costs of interest-bearing

borrowings, including term loans which contain a

repayment on demand clause, in accordance with the

agreed scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan

agreements.
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R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(B] OTHER ITEMS

6. BRBIAIEIE =
(B) Eft1E 5

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—HLFE

2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FiET
Charging/(crediting): R (GHA) -
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA (B
emoluments) EEME)
— salaries, wages and other benefits — #& - TER 1,613 1,244
HibiaH|
— retirement benefits scheme — RIREF
contributions FHEIHR 158 18
Total staff costs BT KA 1,771 1,262
Auditors’ remuneration BTN & 1,200 1,150
Amortisation of intangible asset TS B 1,486 2,776
Amortisation of land use rights b {sh A A 8 6 —
Depreciation of property, plant YE - BB &
and equipment BiETE 690 913
Cost of inventories sold BEEFENAR 15,434 21,998
Impairment loss recognised in respect  Ft¥1% - E K&
of property, plant and equipment * R BIEEE 3,603 —
Impairment loss recognised in respect ~ FLEF A EWER
of intangible asset * BIEEE 37,131 30,798
Operating lease charges for premises  #E&LEHELAT H 1,186 1,226
Net exchange loss b 5 518 558 43 283
Gross rental income from investment REKEME 2HE
properties WA 4BEE (81) —
Less: Direct operating expenses from  J& : FREAHESWA
investment properties that ZIREYEL
generated rental income HEEERY
during the year 3 —
(78) —

The aggregate amount of impairment loss recognised in

respect of property, plant and equipment and intangible
asset are included as “other operating expenses” of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are follows:

BEECHEREBETBERAIENE
383N IR AFA (HEEEFTER)
BOIE 2B 2B EWEMNT ¢

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - HER RIKER Total
31 December 2016 EEHd BENMFR TR ast
BE-Z-~E+-A=1-H HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
LEE THER TR T#x Tz
Executive directors BTES
Ye De Chao ¥ — — — —
Xu Xiao Jun GN — — — —
Ji Xu Dong £ - - - -
Independent non-executive directors B FHITES
He Jin Geng B 120 - - 120
Yu Hong Gao BaE 120 - - 120
Chen Yang 33 120 - - 120
360 — — 360
Total ast 360 — — 360
FEEZEREBRAT

—E-NEEH
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R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

] = /= =
7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND 7. EEREETHAEM
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION T (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - @HR RIKGEH Total
31 December 2015 EEHS EMFR FTEIfHT Bt
HE-T-AF+-A=1T—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HFE T FHT AT FAT
Executive directors HITEE
Ye De Chao ¥EH — — — —
Xu Xiao Jun f/ME — — — —
Ji Xu Dong FMBER — — — —
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
He Jin Geng DR 120 — — 120
Yu Hong Gao Bim 120 — — 120
Chen Yang B 120 — — 120
360 — — 360
Total a5t 360 — — 360

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group. None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December

2016 and 2015.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

8.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest paid emoluments, two
(2015: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other
three (2015: two) individuals are as follows:

RE#HAL

A EeHATRERS (ZE—H
F:=8)EF EMSERME7R
WE - HH=%2(—T—0F: WR)
ATz BRnT

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

2016 2015

—E—XE —T—hF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHE T FETT

Salaries and other emoluments Fe kEMmpe 725 520
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ERREFIFTEI{L K 32 18
757 538

The three (2015: two) individuals include one (2015: one) senior
management that is not a director of the Company and their
emoluments are within the following bands:

S=H (TR WE) ALeE
—% (ZB—HF  —R) FAAAE
FIEMERAR  BEZHEHE
T

Number of individuals

AB
2016 2015
—E-XE —T—hfF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =2 1,000,000 7T 3 2
3 2

For the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no
compensation paid for loss of office (2015: nil).

BE_ZT-RFT-_A=1+—HIF
JE - B SA R R (8 S HEAT IR (=
T—RHE E) -

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

9. INCOME TAX

(A] TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED

9. FTEH

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

REPRESENTS:

(A) & Btk 2 BIRTE -

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Current tax BIEABIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEH = —
The PRC Corporate Income Tax PR TS 261 —
Deferred tax credit ELEBEE R (9,655) (8,394)
(9,394) (8,394)

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the
PRC Corporate Income Tax at 25% (2015: 25%). Taxes
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on prevailing legislation,
interpretations and practice in respect thereof during the

year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

9. FIEH

(B] ZIBHHETTHE A
F?f/\sufé}_,\/z_?:‘j
b1

9. |NCOM E TAX (Continued)

(B] RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE
AND ACCOUNTING LOSS AT APPLICABLE
RATES:

A BT AT 18~ FT1S f ¥ ER
W

A reconciliation of the income tax applicable to loss before
taxation as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2016 2015
AL —E—ARF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Loss before taxation PRI AT EE (18,365) (5,761)
Tax at effective tax rate of 16.5% LZERTE16.5%

(2015: 16.5%) (ZE—HF 1 16.5%) (3,030) (951)

FTEBIE

Tax effect of share of results of e /NS E

associates 2SR (1,100) 128
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A HIEF 52

for tax purpose IR 10,555 6,470
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERBURA

for tax purpose IR (4,840) (3,087)
Tax effect of temporary difference TREGE o MBRE (9,655) (8,934)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised &R 2 FiIARE1E 2,308 294

WG E

Effect of different tax rates of the AEEET AR E

companies of the Group TRz & (3,632) (2,854)
Income tax credit FriSEiE (9,394) (8,394)

FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2015: nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a
measure of segment profit. The segment profit represents the
result generated from each segment with allocation of (i) general
and administrative expenses, selling and distribution costs and
other operating expenses under the heading of other corporate
expenses; (i) share of results of associates; (iii) interest income;
and (iv) compensation income and other sundry income under
the heading of other operating income. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to reportable segments other than corporate assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group is currently organised into the following operating
segments and geographical areas:

(a) The properties investment segment engages in rental
income from investment properties in the PRC;

(b) Natural gas segment engages in sales of natural pipelined
gases and its construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding segment engages in investment in
associates on a geographical basis of the PRC.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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10. 7 EER @

UTITEARBE-_ZT—R"ELK-F—1
FH_A=t—HILEFEARERKRE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2016

and 2015:

BBy 2 e M B2 A

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BE-B-AF+ZAZt-HLEFE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE AR REZR RAE Eak ]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET THER THER THER THER
Segment revenue 2 EkE
From external customers REINBEP 81 15,610 = — 15,691
Segment profit 2 EEF 78 179 - - 257
Interest income FISUA — 1,494 = — 1,494
Other operating income, net Hip BN 58 - 2 29,331 — 29,333
Share of results of associates [EHENE £E - - 6,669 — 6,669
Other corporate expenses Hip Y (330) (44,788) (6,382) (2,490) (53,990)
(Loss)/Profit from operations £E (F58) 87 (252) (43,113) 29,618 (2,490) (16,237)
Finance costs AR (45) — — (2,083) (2,128)
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BBA (B8) %A (297) (43,113) 29,618 (4,573) (18,365)
Income tax Fright - 9,394 - - 9,394
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (B8) 855 (297) (33,719) 29,618 (4,573) (8,971)
Other segment information Hit 2 W& R
Impairment loss recognised in respect ~ FL#1%E = K&
of property, plant and equipment HRZREER — (3,603) — — (3,603)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLE EERRLZ
of intangible asset REBE — (37,131) — — (37131)
Amortisation i (6) (1,486) — — (1,492)
Depreciation e - (610) (80) — (690)
Segment assets NHEE 112,588 624,972 396,009 274,011 1,407,610
Segment liabilities HifaE 29,502 3,391 318,995 250,000 601,888
FEERREGRAT
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 10. 7 EER @

For the year ended 31 December 2015
HE-Z-RFET_A=1+-HLEE

Investment
Natural gas holding Unallocated Total
KAR REER RO ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET THT THT

Segment revenue ik 16
From external customers RENBEP 22,133 — — 22,133
Segment profit 2 EEF 135 — - 135
Interest income FBBA 16 — — 16
Other operating income, net Hit 2 EWAFHE 1 36,000 1,206 37,207
Share of results of associates BB E AR ¥E — (777) — (777
Other corporate expenses Hint%M% (35,545) (4,669) (2,128) (42,342)
(Loss)/Profit from operations T () JRA (35,393) 30,554 (922) (5,761)
Finance costs A — — — —
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BREA (B8) aA (35,393) 30,554 (922) (5,761)
Income tax &R 8,394 — — 8,394
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(B8) /85F (26,999) 30,554 (922) 2,633
Other segment information HrpHER
Impairment loss recognised in respect LB EEERZ

of intangible asset EEE (30,798) — — (30,798)
Amortisation i (2,777) — — (2,777)
Depreciation e (780) — (133) (913)
Segment assets NHEE 420,209 379,950 316,317 1,116,476
Segment liabilities NEEE 5,289 213,808 9,655 228,752
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

11.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group had one
(2015: one) transactions with external customers which
individually contributed to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group’s operation is in the PRC. For the
purpose of segment information disclosures under HKFRS 8,
the Group regarded the PRC as its place of domicile.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

(A] BASIC [LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share amount
is based on the net loss for the year of approximately
HK$5,507,000 (2015: net profit of HK$5,249,000)
attributable to equity holders of the Company, and
weighted average of 4,269,910,510 (2015: 4,269,910,510)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(B] DILUTED (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

10.

11.

DEER )
EERFZEN

HE-Z—RE+-A=+—HI#E
B AEERE-—FZ(ZT—RAF: —
B) INBEFPETR S - SIEREBELR
W52 10% A L o

AR/ —HEREZERAR > NEE
ZEBERMWHMUNTE - pLEERM
BREERE SR T 2 DR ERHREM
5 ARESHER AR

sk (&) &R

ARFEA NEESRERREE (&
18) /BRITRE TS BEE

(A) BREX (F1E) ~BF

BRER (BEB) /BFIIRE
FARREIEREEARBGEFER
E18/F 5849 5,507,000/8 T (=&
—FRF : F555,249,000/87T)
RERNDBITERARMET S
4,269,910510 (ZE— R F :
4,269,910,510 %) 5t & -
(B) F & (Fs) ~EF|
HE-T-—X"FER-T—1F
T-A=Z+—HLFE A£EE
MEEmE BT ETE LA

B e

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

12. REYE

2016 2015

—EB—REF —E-RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

At 1 January Rn—H—H — —

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Wi iE — M@ A (Mf7E29) 61,122 —

At 31 December R+=A=+—8H 61,122 —
Comprise of: BIE

Completed 2% T 61,122 —

As at 31 December 2016, investment properties of
HK$61,122,000 (2015: nil) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings as detailed in note 24.

As at 31 December 2016, all the investment properties are
located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term lease.

(A] VALUATION PROCESSES OF THE GROUP

The Group measures its investment properties at fair

value. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties

has been determined on the basis of valuation carried

out by Sino-Infinite Appraisal Limited (“Sino-Infinite”), an

independent and professionally qualified valuer.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held

between the management and the valuer at least once

every six months, in line with the Group’s interim and

annual reporting dates.
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12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

(B)

(C]

VALUATION TECHNIQUES

Valuations were based on direct comparison approach,
which is adopted assuming sales of these properties in
its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession. By
making reference to sales transactions as available in the
relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity
have been selected and adjustments have been made to
account for the difference in factors such as location and
property size.

INFORMATION ABOUT FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS USING SIGNIFICANT
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS (LEVEL 3)

12. REYZE »)
(B) 1418 754

HEDRAERLBORET - &
RZEMESBRANARE

E - K2EEAMSNAELR
HERS  EEMIHRNAE
LB EN R E R MERRE

R R -
(C] BEFEHEZRT B

EAIEH 192 FlE
2 (B=R) HIEH

Investment properties ~ Fairvalue  Fair value  Valuation Significant

held by the Group HK$'000 hierarchy  techniques unobservable inputs Sensitivity

B AVE  AVE EXFTER

REMF TET ER ER % BWAEE HRE

At 31 December 2016

Investment properties 61,122  Level 3 Direct Market price from The higher market price,

— industrial building EE comparison RMB4,300/square meter to the higher fair value,

R-B-X"E+=-A=t—-H approach RMB5,300/square meter and vice versa

RENE BB TENREFHK HEES -

- IXAE AR¥ 4,300 TE DNYEHES -
BYHKRARYES53007T R2 A
TEERRERRAR

—E-NEEH
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12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. 1REWE =
(D) THE FOLLOWING AMOUNTS HAVE BEEN (D) TH2E8EERGSE
RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED ﬁﬁ/ﬂéﬁ#ﬁzﬁn =3 55
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND A

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2016 2015
—B-ARF —E—TfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Gross rental income from investment REREMEZES
properties N L 81 —
Less: Direct operating expenses from 38 : FRELBRLSWAZ
investment properties that BB B
generated rental income R
during the year (3) —
The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under RIR AT U A & M & /) R R K FE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: Wie@sEmT
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2016 2015
—B-ARF —ZE-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
No later than 1 year —FRN 1,110 —
Later than 1 year and no later than —FRERFA
5years 994 —
Later than 5 years AFE — —
2,104 —
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the investment HE-_ET—XNEFEt+t-A=1+—HL1%F
properties are all located in the PRC and have lease B WEYESUATE - HELRS
periods less than 5 years. o
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.¥1% - BMERRE

Furniture
Construction- Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor and
in-progress Pipelines Building ~ machinery improvements  equipment vehicles fixtures Total
HEIR BE BT HEREE HEMEEE  BOTRE RE  GHREE &t
HK§000 HK§000 HK$1000 HKS§'000 HK$'000 HKS§'000 HKS'000 HKS§'000 HKS§'000
TEn TER TERL TEn TER TEn TER TEn TER
Cost HA
At 1 January 2015 RZE-1F-A-A 10,147 119 3848 5462 167 918 490 515 21,666
Exchange alignments S (638) (5) (159) (300) - (14) 4] - (1.121)
At31December 015and  R=F-RETZA=T-H
1 January 2016 R=%-7~4%-A-R 9509 14 3689 5,162 167 904 485 515 20,545
Additions hE - - - - 37 - - - 37
Acquisition of subsidiary et 74 - - - - 68 - - 142
Exchange alignments EiA% (726) " (254) (294) - (49) (5) (19 (1,354)
At 31 December 2016 RZB-RE+ZR=1-H 8,857 107 3,435 4,868 204 923 480 496 19,370
Accumulated depreciation ~ iHTEREE
and impairment
At 1 January 2015 R=F-1%-A-H 6,412 73 2,345 4136 76 657 49 274 14,402
Charge for the year TEERH - - - 639 58 127 % 6 913
Bxchange alignments EXEE - - - (90) - () ) — (98)
At31December 015and W =F-RE+-A=1-A
1 January 2016 R=E-~E-f-H 6,412 73 2345 4685 134 m 450 339 15217
Charge for the year TEERH - - - 478 3 51 10 120 690
Acquisttion of a subsidiary  KE—FEHEAF - - - — - 61 - — 61
Bxchange alignments EXAE - - - (323) - (56) 13 19 (347)
Impairment oss HERE 2371 34 1090 % - 73 7 2 3605
At 31 December 2016 RZE-AETZR=1-A 8,783 107 3,435 4,868 165 908 480 480 19,226
Carrying amounts BEE
At 31 December 2016 RZE-AEtZB=1-A 74 - - - 39 15 - 16 144
At31 December 2015 WZE-RETZA=1-8 3007 4 1344 an 3 125 3 176 5328
FEEEREBRAT

ZE-RFER
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.1% - BERRE =)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt BERZEEBEBEZATSE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per RABFEENE
annum:
Pipelines 3's% BB 31/3%
Building 2 - 33'/s% or over the lease term, B 2-331:% SIRFAE
if shorter (A& s A%)
Plant and machinery 10 - 20% R K e s 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease term MEMEEE =EHS
Office equipment 10 - 20% N 10 - 20%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20% TE 10 - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20% EMREE 10 - 20%
The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was AEBMBERIRE T REAER
held under medium-term lease on the PRC. A Bl R EAR A5 B -
14.LAND USE RIGHTS 14. 1 i {5 F R
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx FET
At 1 January Rn—A—H — —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) W BE — TR @ 2 81 (P 5 29) 1,887 —
Amortisation B (6) —
At 31 December R+=-—HA=+—H 1,881 —
Land use rights comprise cost of acquiring rights to use certain THFEAEREESEMNEREEM
land, which are principally located in the PRC, for investment R B EE T 30 - AR E E B
properties over fixed periods. ITYHIRE -
As at 31 December 2016, land use rights of HK$1,881,000 (2015: MM FE24FrEFi - R —RF+=
nil) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s interest-bearing A=+—08 T A% 1,881,000%
borrowings as detailed in note 24. T (ZE—1F : &) oK EREAE

B SEEZ B -
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15. GOODWILL 15. &
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Cost AR
At 1 January n—HA—H 27,118 27,118
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) U B — FE B /8 2 5] (B 5E 29) 49,308 —
At 31 December W+—RA=+—8 76,426 27,118
Accumulated impairment losses ZERESE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+ZA=+—H 27,118 27,118
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 49,308 —
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated HREARMS  AEIEEMER
to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) under the properties EnHoReEELSMN ([(ReELE
investment segment. The CGU was identified as follows: i) c ReELBEMEHENATIE
17 :
2016 2015
—EB-KR¥ —T-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FT
REREY)RBER A REEREYRER AR
(Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Company Limited) 49,308 —
FEERREERAT
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15. GOODWILL (continueq) 15. B8 »)

The recoverable amounts of the CGU have been determined
from value-in-use calculations based on cash flow projections
from formally approved budgets covering a four-year period.
Cash flow beyond the four-year period is extrapolated at zero
growth rate, which does not exceed the long-term growth rate
for the business in which the CGU operates. Key assumptions
are as follows:

REELBEM 2 ORSETIRER
BEFMEX KERLAILERTR
HZBRERETRR CREFRZMFRE
Bitd) B - BANFH s RERE
Tyik{E0% IR R EEH - pIBREA
BREERSELEUNER RS
MEE - TEERWT :

2016 2015
—E—XE —T—hF
% %
Discount rate AhIR & 17 —
Operating margin N 2 24 to 28 —
24 £ 28
Growth rate within four-year period PFHY 2 3G =& 40 to 52 —
40 £52
16.INTANGIBLE ASSET 16. B EE
Concession agreement
BT E
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Cost D%
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BAEt+tZHA=1+—H 170,285 170,285
Accumulated amortisation and Rt @ RRE
impairment
At 1 January n—A—H 131,668 98,093
Amortisation charged for the year FRZ R EEH 1,486 2,777
Impairment loss provided for the year FAREEERE 37,131 30,798
At 31 December W+—RA=+—8 170,285 131,668
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December W+=—RA=+—8 — 38,617
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

16.INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued) 16. BILEE @

The intangible asset represents a concession agreement of
natural gas project in the PRC with useful lives of 30 years.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of cash generating unit (“CGU”) for natural gas operation
based on value in use calculation. The calculation incorporated
cash flows projections based on financial budgets as approved
by management at a discount rate of 12.5%. As the recoverable
amount of the CGU of natural gas operation was below the
carrying amount, approximately HK$37,131,000 impairment loss
has been recognised.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group appointed an independent
valuation firm to determine the recoverable amount of CGU
for natural gas operation based on value in use calculation.
The calculation incorporated cash flows projections based on
financial budgets as approved by management at a discount
rate of 29.31%. As the recoverable amount of the CGU of natural
gas operation was below the carrying amount, approximately
HK$30,798,000 impairment loss has been recognised.

BREERANERFHRIOFZITE
RINRIA B 5Tt o

RZZE-—RF+ZA=+—H &%
ERBECHAEEAELIETCAARE
BReEEASBM([BReEESM])
Z AR EIERE o B AEAKARE
KEREIOERN I RTEE AR X
125%FH 2 ReMETREA - ARX
AREBRSELEBEM KBS E
ERREE - A ERRESEDY
37,131,000/ 7T °

R-ZZE—RFE+-_A=+—H K&
BEEZE—HBLGELR - LUIRE
FREBHELIETCAARELE 2
EEBANZIKRE SR - ZEHE
KARBCEEE ANV BRIEER
BhIRE 2031 % S 2 RS RETEN -
MR RAREBRE SEEBL 2 AT
& ENRAE - Fitt BRI EE
18#730,798,000 87T °

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 —F

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. R & DB 2 s

2016 2015
—E-RF —hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
At 1 January n—A—H 343,864 347,348
Share of post-acquisition profit/(loss) of  E{EEEE QAR EEE
associates wAL (E518) 6,669 (777)
Share of post-acquisition reserves of PRGN AR
associates (7,734) (2,707)
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 342,799 343,864
As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group’s interests in RZE-—RFEFERZE—HF+ZA

associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment

(PRC) Company Limited and its subsidiaries (“Forward

Investment”).

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe the
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive director of the Company and the original
beneficial owner of Forward Investment (collectively
referred to as the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
guaranteed the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors will provide
compensation income to the Group if the dividend income
from Forward Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000
(12% of the consideration of the Subscription) per annum.
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year, the compensation income of approximately
HK$29,331,000 (2015: HK$36,000,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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=t—B AEERBEQRZERE

EEEDAE

SAE () AR AR &EHK

BATE ([FTARE ) Z 40% IHE -

AL EFBOT ¢

(i)

EQfZQ—_ijLﬂ:‘H:EI VN

*%’ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%“ﬂ@%?ﬂ?&
BIREATE LD RE R HAR
BERNIEE 2 #)40% xiE (rwﬁ%

£H]) - M%%EEF -
RIERBE R ARANTES

¥EBEERFNEREZRER
BEAN (BBATERAD HE
RAEABIEREFEFIZEE M AER D
K2 B BIRA - (ZRFIi% & Rt
2 FE B A KR 36,000,000
BT (REFEREBZ12%) @ #
AR AAEERERFERA -
ZERBEERBEETKAH
—T——F+=ZRF+ARH) BEE
AEETHBAERMEERF I
MAEM - RAEE - HERALD
29,331,000 ( ZT—HF :
36,000,000/ 7T) ERERE B
?%‘:F'ﬁga@ °
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

(ii)

Summary of financial information of Forward Investment is

as follows:

17. RBEE AR 2R @)

FME 2V HEERREI T

2016 2015

—E-RF —E-RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Total assets BERE 1,339,330 1,652,043
Total liabilities BfEeRE (482,332) (792,383)
Net assets BEFE 856,998 859,660
Group's share of net assets of associates A& B fE{GEE & A A 342,799 343,864

BEFE
For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—RHILLEE

2016 2015

—E—XE —T—hF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Total revenue B EE 116,376 110,285
Profit/(Loss) for the year FrmFl (E8) 16,672 (1,943)
Group’s share of results of associates RNEE (LR E A TIREE 6,669 (777)
Group’s share of reserves RE B EE S (7734) (2,707)
FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REEE QR T 2R )

(i) At 31 December 2016 and 2015, Forward Investment had (iy RZTE—REL-_T-HF+=
the following subsidiaries: A=+—8 ZAMEREHBUAT
MBAR :
Place of
incorporation and Attributable equity
principal place Registered and interest held
Name of operation paid up capital by the Group Principal activities
MR B R TR AEERE
A% TEEXME BARE JRAEZ B TEEHR
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong HK$27,339,422 40% Investment holding
Company Limited £ 27,339,422 7% T REER
FHRE (TE) BRAF
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property The PRC RMB260,000,000 40% Property development and
Company Limited* H RMB255,366,619° property investment
BRENRNERERAA AR 260,000,000 7T * NERERNFRE
ANRH 255,366,619 75°
* For identification purposes only * ELS 4
# Registered capital # [ERIIE= N
b Paid up capital b BRARAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ
18. R B A B 2
TRINEAEE 2 EZWB LA © B

ABERBPEIN - FRRO BRI HE
A -

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the principal subsidiaries of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated.

Particulars of

issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
EROIRESRE/ r5EEE
WEARER AL e B AR A E BEWRER 2 Ll TEXK
Directly Indirectly
B B3
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
Virgin Islands 1 AREE 1 T2 B0 AR
(the “BVI")
RERARE
((EBRLES])
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% — Holding of
EERBERAA B 1REE 1 BT RR motor vehicles
RAAE
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of 50% 50% Provision of
EERERER R B HK$1 each management
2REREE BT RN services
REERRS
Success Take Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
RRRAHS 1TREE1ETZRH REER
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
BEREBRATF B TREE 1T KD REER
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
RRRAHS 1TREE1ETZRG REER
Nanjing Shengjie Infrastructure The PRC US$5,000,000%° — 100% Construction projects
Development Limited* (note (i)) H 5,000,000 % L0 AMRRIER
ERERERRERR BB AR
(PR3E ()
FEEZREBRDF

—E-NEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 18, A 22 Bl 2 #E %% (»0)

Particulars of

issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
ERTREMRE rEEERE
WEAR AR AR e B TR AT ERER 2 LA ITEXK
Directly Indirectly
E# B3
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited N0 1REE BT RG RAER
HRPR(BER)BRAT
Xinan Zhongijing Gas The PRC RMB10,000,000%° — 90% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (ii)) H AR# 10,000,000 7T # construction
TR RRR AR DR (M (i) projects
ARRERER
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000 — 100% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (iv)) H RMB6,000,000° construction
MR ERIRRARAR (M (iv) AER#30,000,0007C* projects
A 6,000,000 7C° AARERER
Keen Gate Developments Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
EERENES 1REE 1 F T2 KD REER
Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas Accessory The PRC RMB40,000,000%° — 100% Trading of
Engineering Company Limited* (note (i) & AR 40,000,000 7T % construction
FRENKAREEIRRBR AR (M) materials
BINHES
Gangning Investment Company Limited* The PRC RMB185,000,000° — 100% Investment holding
(note (ii)) AR 185,000,000 7T REZR
BEREBRRE (M (i) HE
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company The PRC RMB109,984,948%"° — 51% Property investment
Limited* (note (ii)) F AR 109,984,948 71, %0 NERE

RERERABBRRR (M)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign
enterprise.

Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise.

Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person limited
liability enterprise.

The Group does not have any material non-controlling interests as
at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

18. R B A T 2 %= )

Mo

(i)

(if)
(iif)

RIBPEDEEEMAIIEBEDE -

REBPEZREMASANEDLE -

REFEEEEIMA - AEREER
7o

RZE—RFERZF—HF+ZA
=+—H AEEMEEETRNEKR

IEFERR AR SR A S o
* For identification purposes only EHER
# Registered capital # EERIIES N
b Paid up capital b B
19.INVENTORIES 19. 78
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZET—hHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Construction materials EIEME 53 56
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,  20.FE I & 5 B 5k % HL oo JE
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT WA RERFEAR
b= |
2016 2015
—E-RE —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BoaE FET FET
Trade receivables JEUWE IR (a) = —
Other receivables, deposits E b EUGRIA -
and prepayment Be RTENFIA (b) 624,780 322,203
624,780 322,203
FEEZEREBRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, y
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT (continued) Y =k

(A] TRADE RECEIVABLES

E7d

(A) FEW E 5 B

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—T1F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Trade receivables FEUNE SRR 30 30

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BHERBEEE (30) (30)

Trade receivables, net FEWE S ERFUFEE — —

Movement of impairment loss recognised in respect of HEREGERERZREBEEZS
trade receivables is shown as follows: FIREAT -

2016 2015

i —T-hF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

At 1 January R—A—H 30 30

Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE = —

At 31 December W+=A=+—8H 30 30
Notes: BisE -

(i) The Group generally allowed an average credit period due () AEBE—RHEEWREZERE

within 30 days to its trade debtors. FE BB I0KMEER -
(i) In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the (i) HTETEKEZEZ AT

Hhm AREgEEEKNE
SEFEEEEAREERE
BERRZEEERHAZE
MEE - PrAEWE SRR
30 HNEIHI /AR EREE -

Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade debtors from the date credit was initially granted up
to the end of the reporting period. All the trade debtors are
due within 30 days or on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

20.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT (continued)

(B) OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

20. fE
Y FIE -
I8 (&)

B

(B) AftfENIE « #ZE R

=+,
PREPAYMENT R FHIE
2016 2015
—E-RF —T-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEWGRIA ~ 1Re
prepayment RIBRFIR 624,780 322,203
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BHERBEEE — —
Other receivables, deposits and HAEWGIA « ek
prepayment, net TR RIE SR 624,780 322,203
Notes: Mz -

()

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

At 31 December 2016, compensation income receivable of
approximately HK$29,331,000 (2015: HK$36,000,000) was
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayment,
details of which has been set out in note 17.

At 31 December 2016, loan interest prepayment of
approximately HK$22,917,000 was included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayment.

At 31 December 2016, loan receivables of approximately
HK$502,185,000 was included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayment. All the loan receivables are
fixed-rate loan receivables with effective interest rate of
4.35% per annum. All the loan receivables are due within
one year and be classified as “current portion”. As at 31
December 2016, all the loan receivables are neither past
due nor impaired.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other receivables, deposits and prepayment
approximate to its fair values.

(i)

(iii)

RZE-—RNRF+ZA=+—
H- B WK m\E kALY
29,331,000 7T (ZZE—HF :
36,000,000/% 7T) &t A H &
WaE - Re RBNRE - E
R mN R

RZBE—XR"F+=ZA=+—
A BEXMEEMNKED
22,917,000 JUAT A E & Uk
FIE - Re RIEFFUE

R-E—RNE+-_A=+—
A & E X #502,185,000
BTt AR MERIE - e
KIBERFIE - FTERKERA
EERWER  BERFHER
4.35% ° FTAEWERN —F
WNEIE RS EEA [REED ] -
RZE—RNRF+ZA=+—
B ' B EKE ARG T
ERE o

ARABEERHEAMEEK
B e RENFEZERE
HEENHERE

TEHREZREARLT
ZE-REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

21.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

21. R & RBITEER

2016 2015

—E—RF —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Cash and cash equivalents BeMREeEEY 54,006 90,669

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group, approximately
HK$52,058,000 (2015: HK$89,531,000) of bank balances are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. However, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group,
approximately HK$814,000 (2015: HK$851,000) are denominated
in United States Dollars (“USD”).

Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate, and
are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

22. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

BIEE

(iif)

REBMZRS RIBITEHRBEUA
Ris ([ ARKE]D stEZRITHEH
#952,058,000/% 7T ( =& — 1 F -
89,531,000/ 7T) - AR¥ BIEE A
HIER o R - RIBEHE A2 I
P I k1) K 5D - 508 I A< PE B 1R
E - ANEE S B TTINE S
BZRITHBARBAEME o

NEBZRE MIRITEBEIENET
(I%E7T)) sHEZ2#4814,000/8 7T (=
ZT—FHF : 851,000/87C) °

RITHERITB MBI EMNERR - &
FRIEAENTHAAREEN
RIT -

22. 7 RRFIFHEEE

SALE
2016 2015
—E—RE —ET—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHBT
Assets: EE
Interests in associates BN B2 RS 266,167 285,182
Financial asset at fair value through AT EET ABZEER
profit or loss ZEREE 7,350 7,350
Amounts due from associates JE W & | RO — 23,207
273,517 315,739
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

22.ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 22. " EAKEHEEE »

SALE (Continued)

On 20 March 2013, the Company announced the decision of
its board of directors to dispose of Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (the “Intermediate
Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries. The disposal was due
to be completed on 30 September 2014. As at 31 December
2013, final negotiations for the sale were in progress and
Intermediate Holding Company and its subsidiaries were
classified as a disposal group held for sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2015, the Company had entered into the second and third
supplemental agreement to extend the expected completion
date of the disposal of the Intermediate Holding Company
and its subsidiaries to 31 March 2015 and 31 December 2015
respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, all the conditions precedent of the
disposal of the Intermediate Holding Company were fulfilled.
The Group is in the process of transferring the 49% equity
interest in the Intermediate Holding Company to the purchasers
in order to complete the Disposal.

Included in assets classified as held for sale, interests in
associates of HK$266,167,000 (2015: HK$285,182,000) has
been measured based on account record up to 30 June
2012. As the directors of the Company have not been able
to obtain adequate and reliable financial information from
the management of the associate (Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group); the directors of the Company consider that the
consolidated financial statements of the Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy Group for the six months ended 30 June 2012
was practicably the most recent available financial information.

As at 31 December 2015, included in amounts due from
associates are the amounts due from Changdongshun of which
an amount of approximately HK$11,270,000 is interest free and
an amount of approximately HK$11,937,000 is interest bearing
at 5.85% p.a.. The amounts due from Changdongshun are
unsecured and recoverable on demand. During the year ended
31 December 2016, the amounts due from Changdongshun
were fully repaid.

RZT—=F=A-+H ARFAE
MEFSRTEHEIL /P BLERE
BRARAR ([FEERAR]D &

HHfBEAR - hEZZEKNBEHR-F
—OFAA=FTHE - R_T—=%F
TZA=1t—8 FRLEZRE®
BIEAEETM R BERAR RENE
RERIDBRFELEZHERR -

HE_Z—NF+_A=+—HBKZ=
T—AF+-A=+—HLEFE K
RAGIMNE_RE=NHERHE &
HEFEZERARIRAEWB AR ZE
X BRSREHE T -1 F
—A=+—BEk=—ZE—RHE+=AH
=+t—H-

R-F—ARET-A=+—R HE
PRI AT AR R0
P o A B BLE 75 1770 B 2R
4o R 2 FE AT E
15 o

e — s & A Bl #E 21 266,167,000 7
L (ZZF— A F 285,182,000 T)
BEIADEAREHEEE  WER
BEE-_T——FXA=1+HILLZE
FPistE - AR ARREEELS
ZHtE AT (LR B EE) NE
BEEGSRORARZHBER B
AR EERBIL AP BREEER
%ﬁﬁ—“—_i/\ﬂerEut/dlﬂ
AU BHMERAER U ESN RN
BIEER

RZZ—RAF+=-A=+—H8 Bk
B RIEFKIF A FEULHE & A B RIA -
E H 411,270,000 T AR B R E
11,937,000 7T & & F| E£5.85% &+
B EWERIBHIEAEET AR
EREFWE - REBZ T —RF+=
A=+—HLEFE BKRERIEFKE
EEREERE -

FEERREGRAT
—E-REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

=h
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 3.ENEZERKRHEME
DE IE
2016 2015
—E—REF —T—hHF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
R FUR FaE FET FAT
Trade creditors JERE ZIRNK (a) 3,933 3,132
Accruals and other payables FEFTE R R EMEN FRIE (b) 334,271 215,778
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTIERAR AR R 2
interests (c) 175 187
338,379 219,097
Notes: Btz -
(a)  Aging analysis of trade creditors is as follows: (a) ENE S BRI :
2016 2015
—RE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Due within 30 days or on demand 30 A AR B E K — —
Due within 31 to 60 days 31HZE 60 HAEIHA — —
Due within 61 to 90 days 61HZ 90 HAEIHEA — —
Due over 90 days B8 90 HEI =8 3,933 3,132
3,933 3,132
(b) At 31 December 2016, receipts of the consideration from disposal (b) R-ZT—RE+-—A=+—H  [E5t
of the Intermediate Holding Company amounting to approximately ERkHEMEMFERRRKEE
HK$315,000,000 (2015: HK$210,000,000) was included in "FE R 2 R].Z AL {F#1315,000,000
accruals and other payables. Bt (ZZF— R4 : 210,000,000 %
TT) °
(c) At 31 December 2016 and 2015, amounts due to non-controlling (c) RZZE—ARER-Z—HF+=-A
interests was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed =+—8 - B IR R SRR
terms of repayments. R - 8 REE TR -
(d)  The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts (d) ARFEZRRENE S Aﬁﬂ/ﬂﬁ
of trade and other payables approximate to its fair values. ENFORZ REERE N ERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

24.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

24. BB E

2016 2015
—E-RF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Bank borrowings RITEE 255,378 —
Secured HIRA 255,378 —
Unsecured K = —
255,378 —
2016 2015
—E-XE —T—hfF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Scheduled repayment terms of bank HAEREKEEERD
borrowings contain a repayment on IRITIEERETEE
demand clause (shown under (RREBETIIT)
current liabilities):
— Within one year ——FR 5,378 —
— In more than one year but not — BB —FEN
more than two years BB F 250,000 —
— In more than two years but not — BBRFEES
more than five years BB AE = —
255,378 —
Less: On demand or amount due within & : IRESKEBS RS
one year shown under current BEMR—F
liabilities AEIER S5 (5,378) —
Amount shown under non-current liabilities 3EREN A EFTRAIEEE 250,000 —
FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

24.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. 5T EEBE @

(Continued)
Bank borrowings are secured by the following properties of the RITEEHAREB A TYEEER -
Group:
2016 2015
—E—XE —T—hfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Investment properties WEME
— completed, at fair value — 0BT RAFE 61,122 —
Land use rights, at cost THb R - FRAA 1,881 —
At 31 December 2016, the bank borrowings were supported by R-ZTE—XRXE+-_A=+—H " 817
corporate guarantee of certain related companies and personal EERAETHEATIEENDELER
guarantee by a director of the Company. NARNBZ —ZE=FRENEAER
S HF e
At 31 December 2016, the secured bank borrowings are interest RZE—RF+-_A=+—8" &K
bearing at 6.72% to 10% per annum. RIRTT I B R4 ) % 6.72% 5 10% Bt
é\ o
At 31 December 2016, none of the covenants relating to drawn RZIE—R"F+-_A=+—"8 " #E&E
down facilities had been breached (2015: none). BRARERNMERADEER (ZF
—HF &)
25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. EERIEEE
Intangible Investment
asset properties Total
BREE REWE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2015 RZE—RF—A—H 18,049 — 18,049
Credited to profit or loss KBz AR (8,394) — (8,394)
At 31 December 2015 and REZE-RF+=RA=1—H
1 January 2016 k=—ZT—RF—A—H 9,655 — 9,655
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29)  UEEHIE R =] (Bi7E29) — 7,884 7,884
Credited to profit or loss REZEAK (9,655) — (9,655)
At 31 December 2016 R-B-A¥+=-A=1+—-H — 7,884 7,884
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

25.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$19,722,000 (2015: HK$19,722,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried

forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

26. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees
which are calculated based on a certain percentage of the
basic payroll.

25. REIERIBEE @

REEEAR - AEEHEE T ERBALS
B 2 A K 8H R R s A R B) R A 1R &
B #19,7220008 T (ZE—HF :
19,722,000 7T) © AR EETERI AR IR
i | R P B3 R ST B =R o
ERIBEEE o

26. EERIKEF

(a)

AEBERBEEERIEATES
RPN BB RBIGE 2 B0
EERTXERAZES &2 —
Eg b AEEREE ([wEEa
gl]) - BESFEIHIBILRE
NEBZ REHTEAKETE - R
EaRiERstE REMEEERS
BAZEEEBRAZS5%RE
SEL MR - B AEBKRA LR
#330,00078 7T ° &t BN R
B o

RIFH AR S5 TR R RAR -
A6 B2 B AR RE b 77 BRT H4 R
gE 2 FOEHFOR KR FIE 8
([%ZFa8)) - Bt AEEA
REEBREEH S 25%E L
KRAZFTENFL R - AR
EaEMENESRINEE
ZERREE EREAF 2
AETEDLEE -

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

[A) SHARE CAPITAL

27. RA R #E
(A) R

Number of shares

Nominal value

RHOEE HE
2016 2015 2016 2015
“E-RE —E-RF ZEB-XFf —T—AaF
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
TR TR THET FAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  &P&TI(E0.05/8 T
2Lk 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: EER
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 January »—H—H8 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
At 31 December n+=ZA=+—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continueq)

(B] CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
within the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of its debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt,
which includes interest-bearing borrowings net of cash
and bank balances, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves of the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were
as follows:

27. BRA R @ =

(B] EXEH#

REBzERER G HEERAE
EETERSERELE XA
riE A EcER g s
KmegamE AFRES[E
W AEBMERBEFE 2 EE
REEAEE

AEBZERARBREABEFR
(EBRE&HERRE RIRTTER
BRZFBMEE) RARRHEAA
ElhiEm (BREAEEZE %7
P R fet )

RIZE—RNER-_ZT—RHF+=
A=t+—HzaEnEmT :

2016 2015

—E-XE —T—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBT FHT

Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE

— current portion — BN 5,378 —
Interest-bearing borrowings STEEE 250,000 —
Total debts BEHEE 255,378 —
Less: cash and cash equivalents W ReRREEEY (54,006) (90,669)
Net debt B EFHE 201,372 (90,669)
Equity R 788,184 883,179
Net debt to equity ratio SEFEAHERE R 25.55% N/A 7~ R
FEERREGRAT

—E-NEEH
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28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

28. A NEZ MR R T K
ERE]

(A) K2 5] 2RIk I 7

THE COMPANY
2016 2015
—E-XE —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries SN o 1,307,944 976,172
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HAb IR -
prepayment e RIERFRIE 23,410 502
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHER 469 63
23,879 565
Assets classified as held for sale DERFEHEEE 7,350 18,620
31,229 19,185
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and other payables JERTE SRR R B Ath
FER IR (318,515) (213,808)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEEFE (287,286) (194,623)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBERE
LIABILITIES 1,020,658 781,549
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings sEERK (250,000) —
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 770,658 781,549
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital f&N 213,496 213,496
Reserves T 557,162 568,053
TOTAL EQUITY RSB 770,658 781,549

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 31 March 2017.

R_E—+F=ZA=1T—HREFE

BUAE I IRAET)ES -

Ye De Chao Xu Xiao Jun
XER (0N
Director Director

BE BF
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28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(B] MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE

28. NN A Z MR R T K

(B] A4 Atz

& e

COMPANY
Capital
redemption
reserve
Share Share (Note) Accumulated
capital premium EREEHE losses Total
BRA RADEBE (P&E) RiERE CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T TR
At 1 January 2015 RZZE—RF—A—H 213,496 756,049 69 (82,881) 886,733
Loss for the year FREE - — — (105,184) (105,184)
At 31 December 2015and  W=Z—R&F+-A=1+—H
1 January 2016 RZFE-~¥—-R—AH 213,496 756,049 69 (188,065) 781,549
Loss for the year FRERE — — — (10,891) (10,891)
At 31 December 2016 RZBE-RE+ZA=+-H 213,49 756,049 69 (198,956) 770,658

The Group’s reserves and the movements therein are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of these consolidated financial statements.

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.

B AR REBIRA
GANBRE GRARSEDE

AEIK

BT« B 7P 130 1% 18 1 A 7T 20 )
BEA i 2 HE

TEHREZREARLT
ZE-REER
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29.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 9 December 2016, the Group acquired 51% of the entire

29. Y g — i B A T

equity interest in KEEZEYRAMRAF (Tianjin Jun Hua EREEE

Logistics Company Limited*) (“Tianjing Jun Hua Logistics”) for
an aggregate consideration of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$66,678,000).

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in
the acquisition of Tianjing Jun Hua Logistics and the goodwill

R-ZE—XE+=-—AhB  AEBEK
MABRAR ([ XK2E
EYnl) 2HRENS1%  BRE
A A R #:60,000,0007T ( #) 8 & ®
66,678,000 7T) °

WEREEEYRABEZEELE
BZRVFEAMAELE ZEEBNFE

arising are as follows: LU
Tianjin Jun
Hua Logistics
at fair value
KEBBEYR
BRAYE
HK$'000
FiET
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITEERR 421
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment HALFEUGRIA « 12 RFENFIA 12
Investment properties "B 61,122
Land use rights b AR 1,887
Property, plant and equipment W - R MR 81
Trade and other payables FERE SRR L H A ER FRIE (16,202)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE (7,884)
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured BEMETEEBNK (5,378)
Net assets BEFHAE 34,059
49% non-controlling interests 49% FEIE IR AR B A (16,689)
Net assets acquired BEEEFE 17,370
Goodwill kS 49,308
Total purchase consideration RIEERE 66,678
Satisfied by: PN IVESZNE
— Cash —He 66,678
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

29.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

29. B8 — R i B 2 | (o

(Continued)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEE RSN FE
HK$'000
FHTT
Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents N MRSEEMIF2RE 66,678
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired of & : BUWIEIR & KIS SEWEHS (421)
66,257

Note: There is no material difference between the fair value of

(ii)

(iif)

identifiable assets and liabilities and the corresponding acquiree’s
carrying amount except intangible asset and deferred tax
liabilities.

Acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$400,000
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics contributed loss of approximately
HK$297,000 to the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016.

Had the above acquisitions been taken place at the
beginning of the year, the Group’s loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$9,766,000 and the Group’s
revenue would have been approximately HK$16,344,000.

Wi :

(ii)

(iif)

BRELEENMRLTREAR B - ATH
MNEENBEZ A HERMEREARBA
ZIERHEYEEAER -

U 8% #H B8 B 7K 49 400,00078 7T B2
SFALGEIBRE -

HE-FT-AE+-A=1-A
I RREEDRSRAE
B §51840297,000 5 7T -

i i W R FIET A&
BERAFEzZEBEERKZES
2 Bl 49 59,766,000 T & 4
16,344,000 7T °

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include interest-bearing
borrowings, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, cash and bank balances and were classified into the
categories as follows:

30.&mIT A

$EIZIEA@Iﬂa%#§F
5 ERE SRR R E M ER K
FET B 5 BR 3 I H Ath JE - FIE ﬁi
NERITHERR - WHRRWRT -

2016 2015
—E—RF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables BN ER IS 651,430 196,497
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost BEHRK AN 593,757 219,097

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to these consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments are limited and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks that arise in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising
from movements in its own equity share price.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 2 —F—NF+=-H=+—HIFZF

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.£RT A »)

[A] CREDIT RISK (A] 1EE/Efz

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and cash and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within a year. Debtors
with balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from its customers. Based on the
expected recoverability and timing for collection of the
outstanding balances, the Group maintains a provision for
impairment of receivables and actual losses incurred have
been within management’s expectation.

In respect of cash and bank balances, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by transacting with approved and
reputable banks with high credit ratings. Bankruptcy or
insolvency of these banks may cause the Group’s rights
with respect to these assets held to be delayed or limited.
The Group monitors the credit ratings of these banks on an
ongoing basis, and considers that the Group’s exposure to
credit risk at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were minimal.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting
any impairment allowance.

AEBzEERRETERE R
BHERREE MR RIBNR S
NiR1THER - ERRBBEMEZE
ERR TeREEEREEE
E

A B WE 5 AR R N EL A R W kIR
mE - HRAEEREBRETE
EB2EF  gETEME
EFHE - EFHEERHEEP
BER BB 2 B8 R IR
2NN XEBEPZEE
RPEREEFPHERBERREZ
HEEFR - BUWE ZRFIN—F
NEH - BAERBEEMEEH
—FU L2 RWE SR AERR -
HAERTEAEMER - A%
B—grenE s BB H S -
ERKEES SR BRI EE
Ko e a By )+ 7 S [ A 55 B LAUR
ERER A - T ATE L 2 BRRE
BNAEEEZES -

MRS RIRITHEBRM S AKHE
FRELHE BEIERRA
SIEEFRZBITETIHRE
HEEERBRM O - ZFRITZ
WEXEEBEENLGEHAE
BR&GSMBEECENERT
R o AEBESHBEEEZ
FRITZEEFR > ARB/AE
BR-ZF—R"FE-T—0%F
TZA=t—-HZEERRE
8 e

RAMERRR (e RAERAR
FrifWom) DIERREREER
ETRERER ZEEE -

FEERREGRAT
—E-REER
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VAN
w3

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(B] LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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AEBETENSEERARE
HEBZREEE  BREEHE
T RBIE MIEINE K AE TR
HReFKR - EREEBBET
BB E 2 KK - HAR
SEAREFG 2K - AEE
ZHRRERERERDESH
KEEBTERZE BN - A
FEREAR T RN R R ER
RABEBMBHEBRE AR
BMERE  NEMNEHEESR
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #2 — %

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 30. €T E »)
(B) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) (B) “EIE XA ()
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1 year or on less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount NERFTERS —FRm® —FENLEFR
HREE RERHE REX BEmF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THER THER THER TR
At 31 December 2016 R=Z-RF+=A=t-H
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 255,378 280,378 5,378 275,000
Trade creditors BB SRS 3,933 3,933 3,933 -
Accruals and other payables [t ER A ENTUE 334,271 334,271 334,271 =
Amounts due to non-controlling BRI R AR R iR 5
interests 175 175 175 —
593,757 618,757 343,757 275,000
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year oron less than
amount cash flows demand 2 years
HNEAFTRRE —FRy  —FULET
FEE MELHR REX RmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx TAET FAT
At 31 December 2015 R=B-AF+=A=+-AH
Trade creditors ENE SRR 3,132 3,132 3,132 —
Accruals and other payables e B &ﬁ’rﬂﬁﬁ*” 215,778 215,778 215,778 —
Amounts due to non-controlling BRI R i A T
interests 187 187 187 —
219,097 219,097 219,097 —
FEEEREBRAT

—E-NEEH
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(C] INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge against
the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out below.

30. €T R »

(C) FIZ & fez

AEBEZMEREREZREANE
BZER AEBZZFBNE
EMEFAEZER  SAKEA
DRIEHREREN KRR KRR
FAER R R o AN 5 B I A
SROTETEEPRRER -
SEXEEBERZMNEERE
RS e

Effective Effective
interest interest
rate 2016 rate 2015
BRAE —T-XRF EBENX —T-1fF
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
TEx TAT
Loan receivables L 4.35 502,185 5.85 11,937
Net fixed rate borrowings: FESEE:
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE
— current —RE 6.72 (5,378) — —
Interest-bearing borrowings SHEEE 10.0  (250,000) — —
Total net borrowings FEEAR 246,807 11,937
Net fixed rate borrowings as FTEREEILFERERRE
a percentage of total Both
net borrowings 100% 100%

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2016




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{2 —E— NF1+_-A=+—HILFZ

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.£RT A »)

(C] INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued) (C] FIFE[EE =)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would increase/decrease
the Group’s loss after tax and decrease/increase retained
earnings by approximately HK$106,000 (2015: nil).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that
date. The 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next year
end date.

BREDH

RZE—XRF+-_A=+—8"
HErEMELER 7, TH50ME
B2 MAABEMAS2EERE
N BIASE 2 BRIBEEER
g, m RAREE & R R AL
# N0 49106,000/8 L (Z T —H
F |

FBURE DT TR R R

RBERREHL  YEEAR
2 BPTEE KA RBITEKIET
TErTAZHREAR - 50 EE
ROEVIR ISR - IEEEY E
ETNEAFEAER FHBR X
ZAIER LB 2 T -

TEREZREARLTF
ZE-REER
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 30T E =
(D) CURRENCY RISK (D] s)HEE foz

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated
in RMB. Presently, the Group has no hedging policy with
respect to its foreign exchange exposure.

With respect to receivables, payables, cash and bank
balances, and borrowings denominated in RMB which
are exposed to foreign currency risk. Depreciation or
appreciation of the RMB against can affect the Group’s
position, results and equity.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

REBAHD R HHNARES
B BA ARBXEBRHER
[\ 2 $HRIER o

AR FHEMRUYGOR - B
A R MRITEBUNESR
o ERSNERER - AR LINERZ
B FHER EH A LB AR -
KENMERERTE -

R HIK - AR B ASNESHE
CHRMAERSHAG Y EEE
T -

2016 2015
—E—REF —ET—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHBT
Assets EE
RMB AR 620,092 89,531
uUsD =Y 814 851
Liabilities aE
RMB AREE 24,762 2,156
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.£RT A »)

[D) CURRENCY RISK (Continued) (D) S5 JE fez ()

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of RMB.
The following table indicates the approximate increase/
decrease in the Group’s loss for the year in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rate
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of reporting period (2015: increase/decrease the Group’s
loss). 5% is the sensitivity rate used as it represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rate.

BREDH

RAEEXFERZARE RS -
TRETTESERAINEERFS
B pe e (RRERRAEE
BERRERKINEREZX) - il
AIAFEALEEENEN
V(ZE—RHF  KREEEIEE
mm) o ER 5% BEREL
?BIE%EJ@?&%J&H%%@@
&y AP AL

2016 2015
—EB—XEF —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
RMB AR¥
— Increase/decrease on loss for the year ~ —REIBIE 7
(2015: increase/decrease (ZZ—FF : AEH
the Group’s loss) 1M, mL) 29,767 4,369

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in

BRED TR REXEF VR
SHREBE - WEERANRASE
EXEENEBMEEREITE
NIETAESm T A SRR -
URBEABEMEEH (LERE
) BT E -

particular interest rates, remain constant.

EEREEERAT
—z_gem 107
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.£RT A »)

[E] FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (E] @ T Az FE

INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively.

° The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives. Interest rate swaps are measured at the
present value of future cash flows estimated and
discounted based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates.

o The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models mainly based on volatility of
difference on asset’s price analysis and discounted
cash flow analysis respectively.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(E] FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

31.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the notes to these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).
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32.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the year ended 31
December 2016 and 2015:

(a)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, an Executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company — a
connected person), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr.
Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment had entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in
Forward Investment by Keen Gate at a consideration of
HK$300,000,000 (the “Consideration”). The Subscription
was completed on 10 December 2012. The transaction
constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the
Guarantors jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate
that the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable
from the Group’s equity interest in Forward Investment,
shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration per
annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below
such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate the
Subscriber on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return
Undertaking”) in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, Forward
Investment had a gain of approximately HK$16,672,000
and the Group shall share the results of the associates,
amounting to approximately HK$6,669,000. However, the
Profit Guarantee of Forward Investment was still short for
HK$29,331,000 this year, the Return Undertaking would
be exercised. As such, an amount of HK$29,331,000 was
credited in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, as Forward
Investment suffered loss and no dividend will be declared,
the Return Undertaking would be exercised. As such,
an amount of HK$36,000,000 was credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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32.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

B RS AR AL

—NFFTZA=F—HIFFE

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group
comprises amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 7 and those highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Amounts due to non-controlling interests amounted to
HK$175,000 (2015: HK$187,000).

33.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

{A} Commitments outstanding not provided for in these

consolidated financial statements were as follows:

2.AEBEALTRS @)

(b) REBEZIZERBASHE 8
ARG M RARMI 7 T INER
SXNFARRAREF 2 &L
BRI X [ T % F &= ¥ R
BZ2R -

(c) MENIFIERBEERNRIAES
175,000 L ( = & — R F:
187,000787T) ©

33. KEHERIE

[A] KEBAYEBARGAIEERE
B 2 AERTIT

2016 2015
—E—REF —E—A1F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Commitments: AHE -
— contracted but not provided for — HRARIEER
the natural gas project HEOIEE e - 1,132

[B] AS LESSEE

(B] 1ERBAMA

The Group had total outstanding commitments for future
minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of properties, which fall due as follows:

AEBREBEYVETAIRHELEH
HWRTIHEZIRZ REEAR
REENHESEEGENT

2016 2015

—E-RF —RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHET FAET

No later than 1 year —FRN 341 728
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —FR&BERFR 623 —
964 728

The Group has no contingent rentals and sub-lease BHE_ZT—R"EFRZFE—01F

payments received for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015.
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34.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged the following assets to secure interest-

6. EEEKM

AREEDERATEERE R BB

bearing borrowings: g
2016 2015
—B-ARF —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Investment properties (Note 12) wEMZE (3E12) 61,122 —
Land use rights (Note 14) T AR (5 14) 1,881 —

35.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

(A] KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
the following judgements that have a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(A]

(B)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several acceptable
alternatives. Estimates and judgements used in preparing
the consolidated financial statements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
followings are the more significant assumptions and
estimates, as well as the accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 35. S5 AET R HE =
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN (B] B/ A EEE T B R F
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING 1EH 2 BEXETHES (#)
POLICIES (Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning AEEEHRREL G RR
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by | oo FTERM 2 gt ET B ET 1T
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The B O WEBHEMABERERE
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of @ o At REBEmIEIT - Mz
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts T RERERIRE AT e B BUAEY
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are TEFBRFEFEcEERBERT
discussed below: BEEHERAE :
(i) Impairment of assets i) BEERE
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events BEBEHNBEAEEHER
or changes in circumstances indicate that the BEFEEEBSE KD
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable i lleRdBEBREER
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a BRE - BEEIRSELE
cash-generating unit has been determined based iz 2 AT EIEFEE RIZE E
on the asset’s fair value less costs to sell. These Z N HEBIEERANETE °
assessments require the use of estimates. ZE AR ERAMET -
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

The fair value less costs to sell primarily use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and estimated terminal
values at the end of the reporting period. There are
a number of assumptions and estimates involved
for the preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved budget and the
estimated terminal value. Key assumptions include
the expected growth in revenues and operating
margin, effective tax rate, growth rates and selection
of discount rates, to reflect the risks involved and
the earnings multiple that can be realised for the
estimated terminal value.

Management prepared the financial budgets
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
market development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow projections and changes to key
assumptions can significantly affect these cash
flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group makes impairment loss
for receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables.
Allowances are made for trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstance indicate
that the balances may not be collectible based on
primarily the ageing of trade and other receivables
and the historical write-off experience, net of
recoveries. The identification of doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and allowance for doubtful debt in the
period in which such estimates has been changed.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment except construction-
in-progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account of their estimated residual value.
The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful
life of property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year
and in the future period.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 35. S5 AET R HE =

J U DG EM E NTS (Continued)

(B) FE/H A EBE BRI
1Et .2 BEAXEETHEF =)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

livl Y% - BERRBREE

(iv) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment
represent a significant portion of the Group’s total
assets. Changes in industry conditions may cause
the estimated period of use or the value of these
assets to change. Long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at least annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances have indicated that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v]

(vi)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires management to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value.

Impairment of intangible assets

The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. The value-in-use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the intangible assets and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
The management refers to the valuation performed
by independent qualified valuers. In performing
the valuation, the valuers have based on method
of valuation which involves certain estimates and
assumptions.

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of receivables under concession
agreement. This estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the business,
pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions
underlying the value-in-use calculations.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 35. S5 AET R HE =

J U DG EM E NTS (Continued)

(B) FE/H A EBE BRI
1Et .2 BEAXEETHEF =)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(vii) Z<HAFr15 %L

(vii) Current income taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period
in which such determination is made.

(viii) Estimate of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
the Group considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different leases or other contracts),
with adjustments to reflect those differences;
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(viii) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the
date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and (where possible) from external
evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and
condition, using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

If information on current or recent prices of
investment properties is not available, the fair

values of investment properties are determined

using discounted cash flow valuation techniques.

The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based

on market conditions existing at the end of each

reporting period.
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35. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 35. FEHEET R HE =
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN [B] [EH AR EEZ B F T

APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(viii) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The principal assumptions underlying management’s
estimate of fair value are those relating to: the receipt
of contractual rentals; expected future market
rentals; void periods; maintenance requirements;
and appropriate discount rates. These valuations
are regularly compared to actual market yield, and
actual transactions of the Group and those reported
by the market.

The expected future market rentals are determined
on the basis of current market rentals for similar
properties in the same location and condition.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEIKEE

hY I V'3 i
RESULTS E 4
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-BLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—E-»Ff CZT-Rf ZF-RmF ZFT-=FfF T C-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT TET FAT FET FHEL
Revenue e 15,691 22,133 43,966 6,683 13,617
(Loss)/profit attributable to ADAER AES
owners of the Company (B18) /7 (5,507) 5,249 16,370 (85,148) (15,414)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share  SIREN (EE) /BF (0.13) centsfll  0.12 centsfll  0.38 centsfll (1.99) centsfll (0.36) cents/l
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SR (&) /27 N/ATEH NATER N/A T NATEF N/ATER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+—-AH
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—&-»Ff CT-Rf ZF-WmF  ZFT-=F T C-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT TET FET TET FEL
Total assets BERE 1,407,610 1,116,476 946,660 934,270 1,140,736
Total liabilities BERSE (601,888) (228,752) (27,709) (28,307) (160,082)
Net assets BEFE 805,722 887,724 918,951 905,963 980,654

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

Annual Report 2016




GROUP PROPERTIES
EEEYE S

At 31 December 2016 R—E—NE+_-H=1—H

Category of
Location Intended use lease term

wE BHERZ BRI FHER

Total gross
floor area
BEEEE
(sg. m.)
(FFI7K)

Group’s
interest
rEEZERE
(%)

Properties held for investment $SER &Y%

No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie, Industrial premises for rental Medium
Development Area, EHERSZ THEME HHA
Tianjin City,

the PRC

ey

REM

(=

)\ KE 3458

Huijinxintiandi Plaza, Commercial premises for rental Long
No. 11 Shengtai Road, VEHERGR A EME KH
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

h

TERE

ARmIZER

PREEHT BB ARS 11 5%

ESFAMES

Approximately
#911,512.07

Approximately
#)53,759.48

51

40

TEREZREARLTF

—E-REER
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Group Properties

EEIYES

At 31 December 2016 R —ZFE— N+ _-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of BRI interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) REME
B BERR HYOFHE R (FFI7K) (%)
Properties held for sale 35 {E L &2
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, FE EEDE = Hf 47116.67
No. 699 Chengxin,
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
I
TERE
MRTTEE
PRBE AT E A8 699 5%
ETNERXEESE
810 X 1706 &
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in EE EEYE R #)1,710.89

Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa,
No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

T

ARy

AR IER

B AT B AR KE
28885k s R IEE

EATE101 E104 =
RE481E 101 2104 E

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Suite 607, 6th Floor, Ocean Centre,
5 Canton Road,Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERNERDBEERESR
BIFHO6E607TE



	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	DIRECTORS' REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	GROUP PROPERTIES
	BACK COVER

